University of Massachusetts Medical School eScholarship@UMMS

GSBS Dissertations and Theses

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

2018-07-24

Innate Detection of HIV-1 in Myeloid Dendritic Cells

Sean Matthew McCauley University of Massachusetts Medical School

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Follow this and additional works at: https://escholarship.umassmed.edu/gsbs_diss

Part of the Immunology and Infectious Disease Commons, and the Virology Commons

Repository Citation

McCauley SM. (2018). Innate Detection of HIV-1 in Myeloid Dendritic Cells. GSBS Dissertations and Theses. https://doi.org/10.13028/75z5-2237. Retrieved from https://escholarship.umassmed.edu/gsbs_diss/993

Creative Commons License

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

This material is brought to you by eScholarship@UMMS. It has been accepted for inclusion in GSBS Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of eScholarship@UMMS. For more information, please contact Lisa.Palmer@umassmed.edu.

INNATE DETECTION OF HIV-1 IN MYELOID DENDRITIC CELLS

A Dissertation Presented

By

Sean M. McCauley

Submitted to the Faculty of the University of Massachusetts Graduate School of

Biomedical Sciences, Worcester

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of:

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

July 24, 2018

Program in Molecular Medicine

INNATE DETECTION OF HIV-1 IN MYELOID DENDRITIC CELLS

A Dissertation Presented

By

Sean M. McCauley

This work was undertaken in the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences INTERDISCIPLINARY GRADUATE PROGRAM

Under the mentorship of:

Jeremy Luban, M.D., Thesis Advisor

MIchael Brehm, Ph.D., Member of Committee

Heinrich Gottlinger, Ph.D., Member of Committee

William Theurkauf, Ph.D., Member of Committee

Akiko Iwasaki, Ph.D., External Member of Committee

Kate Fitzgerald, Ph.D., Chair of Committee

Mary Ellen Lane, Ph.D., Dean of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

July 24, 2018

ABSTRACT

Protective antiviral immune responses require priming of naïve T cells by dendritic cells (DCs) that have matured sufficiently to produce co-stimulatory cell surface molecules and cytokines. Although only low levels of productive HIV-1 infection are detected in ex vivo DCs following HIV-1 challenge, those few cells exhibit innate activation. Experimentally bypassing blocks to entry and replication leads to more efficient transduction of DCs and maturation as indicated by production of interferons and interferon stimulated genes. Furthermore, similar innate activation occurs upon transduction of macrophages or CD4+ T cells. However, the mechanism by which HIV-1 is detected to activate innate immune signaling is not clear. The purpose of this thesis is to incorporate my data and observations into the understanding of HIV-1 innate detection and attempt to resolve seemingly conflicting observations.

Reverse transcription and genomic integration are necessary for innate activation implying the need de novo transcription. Coding sequences are unnecessary save for those cis-acting sequences necessary for the HIV-1 life cycle. CRM1 dependent, HIV-1 unspliced RNA export is essential for innate activation. As intact viral sequence is unnecessary for transcription and export, defective proviruses may contribute to systemic inflammation seen in chronically infected individuals. These insights, are hoped to aid in the production of qualitatively better anti-retroviral drugs as well as in the design a protective HIV vaccine.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE	i
SIGNATURE PAGE	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	vi
CHAPTER I	1
Introduction	1
1.1 Brief Introduction	2
1.2 HIV-1 Virology	3
1.3 HIV-1 Persistence	11
1.4 HIV-1 interactions with DCs	14
1.5 HIV-1 Incoming	20
1.5 Detection of HIV-1 Post Integration	28
1.6 Sensing of HIV-1 RNA Processing	31
1.7 Perspectives	35
CHAPTER II	38
Intron-containing RNA from the HIV-1 provirus activates type I interferon inflammatory cytokines	and 38
2.1 Summary	39
2.2 HIV-1 transduction matures dendritic cells	40
2.3 Maturation requires integration, independent of coding sequence	48
2.4 Maturation requires transcription and Rev-mediated export	57
2.5 HIV-1 transcription activates macrophages and CD4+ T cells	63
2.6 Implications for research and antiviral therapy	69
2.7 Materials and Methods	78
CHAPTER III	87
Conclusion	87
3.1 Overview and concepts	88

3.2 Competing mechanisms	89
	00
3.3 Detection of HIV-1 cDNA	90
3.4 Detection of HIV-1 RNA processing	92
3.5 Putting the pieces together	94
3.6 Outstanding questions and speculations	97
3.7 Experimental considerations	103
Bibliography	107

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

- Figure 1.1 Depiction of the HIV-1 viral life cycle
- Figure 1.2 HIV-1 transduction of dendritic cells
- Figure 1.3 Detection of intracellular viral cDNA
- Figure 2.1 HIV-1 transduction matures DCs

Figure 2.2 HIV-1 RNA regulation is necessary for DC maturation, but LTR-driven transcription is insufficient and coding sequences are not necessary

Figure 2.3 Rev-mediated RNA export is necessary for DC maturation but Tat is dispensable

Figure 2.4 Innate immune activation in macrophages and CD4+ T cells by HIV-1 proviral transcription

- Table 2.1 Plasmids used in this study
- Table 2.2 Drugs and maturation effects

CHAPTER I

Introduction

1.1 Brief Introduction

Presently, there are over 40 antiretroviral drug formulations approved by the FDA marketed specifically to inhibit HIV-1 replication (FDA.gov). These drugs are designed to obstruct various specific steps of the HIV-1 life cycle including fusion and entry, reverse transcription, integration, and HIV-1 protease processing (Arts and Hazuda, 2012). These formulations can be very effective in reducing viral load in infected individuals to near-undetectable levels, curtailing the risk of viral transmission, and preventing progression to AIDS. Unfortunately, while antiretroviral medications are highly effective in inhibiting the HIV-1 life cycle, they are neither a cure nor a protective vaccine. HIV-1 infected individuals must maintain a strict regimen of antiviral drugs or risk viral rebound and drug resistance (Davey et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2013; Siliciano and Siliciano, 2013; Wang et al., 2011). Furthermore, it is economically and logistically difficult to distribute medication to areas of the world most impacted by HIV-1. According to the most recent data available from UNAIDS, an estimated global 36.7 million people were HIV-1 positive with approximately 1.8 million new infections and 1 million AIDS related deaths in 2016 alone (UNAIDS.org). This highlights the truth that, although modern therapies are incredibly effective in managing HIV, no cure exists and more people are infected every year underscoring the critical need for a protective vaccine that prevents establishment of infection.

1.2 HIV-1 Virology

Human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) is an RNA virus of the genus *Lentivirus* in the family *Retroviridae*. HIV-1 is a positively stranded, RNA virus enclosing two copies of a single 9.5 kb RNA genome (Wain-Hobson et al., 1985; Watts et al., 2009). Like all retroviruses, HIV-1 encodes a single stranded RNA genome that is reverse transcribed to produce a double stranded DNA copy. This cDNA copy is transported to the nucleus where it is incorporated in the host chromosomal DNA. Once integrated, this single genome encodes for 15 viral protein products that it produces through complex alternative splicing and proteasomal processing.

Prior to cellular infection, the HIV-1 virion is contained within a lipid bilayer composed of host cellular membrane. Within the viral membrane, the RNA genomes are themselves enclosed in a conical structure derived from the viral capsid protein (CA) (Ganser et al., 1999; Li et al., 2000). The CA monomers assemble into repeating units of hexamers with critically placed pentamers to generate a curvature with conical shape. This structure, similarly termed as the viral capsid, also encloses the viral reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN) enzymes. HIV-1 infects CD4+ T cells, and to a lesser extent macrophages and dendritic cells, through the binding of a trimeric viral Env complex to cell surface CD4 and a coreceptor, generally CCR5 or CXCR4 (Arrildt et al., 2012; Munro and Mothes, 2015; Pancera et al., 2014). Following receptor association, Env

drives fusion of the viral and cellular membranes leading to release of the of the HIV-1 capsid structure into the cytoplasm.

Following entry, the RNA genome is reverse transcribed by the RT enzyme to a single, minus stranded DNA copy (Hu and Hughes, 2012). In proliferating CD4+ T cells, where cytoplasmic dNTP levels are abundant, this reaction occurs quickly following entry. However, in non-dividing cells with limited cytoplasmic dNTPs such as DCs and macrophages, reverse transcription proceeds much more slowly taking up to 48 hours (Kim et al., 2012). The RT enzyme also has an RNase H subunit which degrades the RNA genome following completion of the first complementary DNA (Driscoll et al., 2001). With the RNA copy removed, RT continues to synthesize the plus stranded DNA. At some point during this time, the viral capsid structure dissociates to release the reverse transcription complex; although whether this occurs early after entry, during cytoplasmic transport, or after nuclear pore complex binding is not well understood (Aiken, 2006; Campbell and Hope, 2015; Chin et al., 2015; Hulme et al., 2015; Peng et al., 2014). Following nuclear import, the HIV-1 integrase enzyme cleaves the host DNA to induce a strand transfer reaction. Host DNA damage complexes are then recruited to repair the lesion thereby completing viral DNA incorporation (Craigie and Bushman, 2012; Krishnan and Engelman, 2012; Lesbats et al., 2016).

Once the HIV-1 genome is integrated into the host chromosomal DNA, cellular factors including NF-κB, Sp1, TATA box binding protein (TBP), and RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II) bind to the promoter element of the 5' long terminal repeat (LTR) (Nabel and Baltimore, 1987; Rittner et al., 1995; Wei et al., 1998). This minimal complex allows for low level transcription of HIV-1 RNAs. The majority of which are short, abortive transcripts that incompletely transcribed and, ostensibly, guickly degraded (Kao et al., 1987). However, a small number complete transcription and are subsequently spliced and processed (Das et al., 2011; Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012). This early, low level transcription allows for the the translation of the viral transactivation factor (Tat). Tat then binds to the transactivation response element (TAR) of the HIV-1 LTR and recruits the positive transcriptional elongation factor (P-TEFb) (Dingwall et al., 1989, 1990; Tahirov et al., 2010). This, in turn, phosphorylates RNA Pol II leading to a significant enhancement of viral transcription (Bieniasz et al., 1999; Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012; Richter et al., 2002).

HIV-1 transcribes and processes its pre-mRNA into over 100 different alternatively spliced variants (Ocwieja et al., 2012). Three separate classes of HIV-1 mRNAs result from HIV-1 RNA splicing: unspliced genomic RNA encoding Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins, partially spliced RNAs encoding Env, Vif, or Vpu, and multiply spliced RNA encoding Rev, Tat, Vpr, or Nef (Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012; Kim et al., 1989; Purcell and Martin, 1993). Multiply spliced HIV-1 RNAs are exported from the nucleus using the canonical NXF1/TAP mRNA export

pathway. In contrast, partially spliced and full length HIV-1 RNAs retain the major Env intron and are blocked from export (Cullen, 2003; Jensen et al., 2003; Rekosh and Hammarskjold, 2018; Sommer and Nehrbass, 2005; Stutz and Izaurralde, 2003). The HIV-1 protein Rev potentiates nuclear export of these RNAs by associating with the Rev response element (RRE), contained within the Env intron, and binding to the karyopherin CRM1 which drives export outside of the NXF1/TAP pathway (Cochrane et al., 1990; Cullen, 2003; Emerman et al., 1989; Fischer et al., 1995; Malim et al., 1989; Rojas-Araya et al., 2015).

Once exported from the nucleus, full length, unspliced HIV-1 RNA is translated into the Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins. An RNA motif of "slippery sequence" (UUUUUUA) along with an upstream ACAA tetraloop induces a -1 ribosomal frameshift in around 5 percent of the translating molecules thereby producing Gag-Pol from the same RNA transcript (Bell and Lever, 2013; Biswas et al., 2004; Dulude et al., 2002; Mouzakis et al., 2013; Staple and Butcher, 2005). The Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins then associate with a small number of membrane bound Env trimers upon the inside surface of the host cell membrane along with two copies of the unspliced HIV-1 RNA genome (D'Souza and Summers, 2005; Sundquist and Kräusslich, 2012). Gag protein is sufficient to drive viral budding from the cell membrane; however, it utilizes the host ESCRT pathway to potentiate viral release (Bieniasz, 2006, 2009; Carlton and Martin-Serrano, 2007; Göttlinger et al., 1991; von Schwedler et al., 2003; Usami et al., 2009; Votteler and Sundquist, 2013; Weiss and Göttlinger, 2011). Once released from the cell membrane, the viral particle exists as a membrane bound, spherical array of outwardly facing Gag and Gag-Pol molecules. The viral protease enzyme (PR), itself autocatalytically processed from the Gag-Pol molecule, subsequently cleaves the Gag and Gag-Pol into its constituent elements, matrix (MA), capsid (CA), nucleocapsid (NC), p6, protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT), and integrase (IN). The viral MA proteins remain associated to the membrane forming a discontinuous layer. Inside, the CA monomers spontaneously assemble into the conical structure of the mature virion and enclose the genomic RNA (Ganser et al., 1999; Sundquist and Kräusslich, 2012; Zhao et al., 2013). At this point, the matured viral particle is infectious and ready to restart the cycle.





Figure 1.1 Depiction of the HIV-1 viral life cycle

I. The HIV-1 virion is contained within a lipid bilayer composed of host cellular membrane. Within the viral membrane, the RNA genomes are themselves enclosed in the viral capsid protein which also encloses the viral reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN) enzymes (Campbell and Hope, 2015). II. Viral entry is potentiated by Env interactions with CD4 and a coreceptor, generally CCR5 or CXCR4 (Arrildt et al., 2012; Munro and Mothes, 2015). III. Following entry, the viral capsid is released into the cytoplasm. **IV.** Reverse transcription of the viral RNA genome to cDNA occurs during cytoplasmic transport (Hu and Hughes, 2012). During transport, the viral capsid dissociates at an unknown rate (Campbell and Hope, 2015). V. Following reverse transcription, viral cDNA is transported to the nucleus. VI. The viral cDNA is transported to the nucleus where it is incorporated into host chromosomal DNA by integrase (Craigie and Bushman, 2012; Lesbats et al., 2016). Here, viral RNA is transcribed by host factors following transactivation by Tat (Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012) **VII.** Fully spliced viral RNAs are exported from the nucleus by the canonical TAP/NXF1 mRNA export pathway. However, partially or unspliced viral HIV-1 RNAs are exported through the CRM1 export pathway (Cullen, 2003; Pocock et al., 2016). VIII. Unspliced HIV-1 RNA translates the Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins which assemble at the cell membrane and promote viral budding (Bell and Lever, 2013; Sundquist and Kräusslich, 2012). IX. Following Gag assembly, viral membrane fission is driven by the host ESCRT complex (Usami

et al., 2009; Votteler and Sundquist, 2013). The viral protease enzyme then cleaves the Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins into their functional constituents and the capsid protein auto-assembles into the viral capsid hexagon lattice enclosing the viral RNA (Bell and Lever, 2013).

1.3 HIV-1 Persistence

The majority of those infected with HIV-1 mount an antigen-specific immune response against the virus with antibodies as well as CD4+ and CD8+ responses (Altfeld et al., 2002; Cao et al., 2003; Rosenberg et al., 1997; Scheid et al., 2009; Virgin and Walker, 2010). These immune responses are of varying effectiveness but will generally reduce viremia by logs, largely correlating with HIV-1-specific CD8+ T cell responses. However, those infected with HIV-1 progress to AIDS despite having measurable antiviral immune responses of varying efficacy. The important exception are the small percentage of individuals referred to as elite controllers who can constrain HIV-1 replication and resist progression to AIDS; although the exact reason for their resistance is unknown (Bello et al., 2009; Fowke et al., 1996; Porichis and Kaufmann, 2011; Saag and Deeks, 2010; Walker, 2007). As stated though, the majority of HIV-1 infected patients, without consistent access to antiretroviral medication, will progress to AIDS. The reason for the resistance to viral elimination has been the subject of intense research with the expectation that a better understanding of how HIV-1 evades immune control will lead to the design of a better antiviral therapies or a prophylactic vaccine. A simple, intuitive explanation is the simple fact that HIV-1 infects and inactivates the same CD4+ T cells tasked with antiviral defense. However, the ability to infect and replicate in immune cells is not unique to HIV-1. Furthermore, anti-HIV-1 cellular and humoral responses are readily detectable

prior to immune collapse and establishment of AIDS, indicating that CD4+ T cell activity is not wholly functionally impaired.

The HIV-1 Env glycoprotein is the only extracellular viral protein and is therefore uniquely exposed to antibody attack. In response, Env has evolved a closed conformational state that encloses and conceals receptor binding interfaces and functional centers. Furthermore, the Env protein is covered in an extensive glycan "shield" that occludes antibody access. Indeed, this glycan layer makes up half of Env's total molecular weight (Julien et al., 2013; Lyumkis et al., 2013; Munro and Mothes, 2015; Pancera et al., 2014). HIV-1's capacity for mutation and functional plasticity is another oft-cited basis for HIV-1 persistence. Indeed, HIV-1 has great capacity for mutation and immunological escape due largely to the error-prone reverse transcriptase enzyme (Abram et al., 2010; Bowman et al., 1998; Hu and Hughes, 2012; O'Neil et al., 2002). In particular, Env protein is capable of tremendous sequence and conformation divergence while still maintaining its function (Moore et al., 2012; Powell et al., 2017; Richman et al., 2003; Wei et al., 2003). However, high rates of mutation and co-infection of sequence variants referred to as guasispecies are common among RNA viruses and, alone, cannot account for the failure of the immune system to lastingly control HIV-1 infection (Andino and Domingo, 2015; Lauring and Andino, 2010).

Another important point is that, like all retroviruses, HIV-1 creates a DNA copy of its RNA genome and integrates its own sequence into the host cell's

chromosomal DNA. At which point, regardless of its ability to replicate, HIV-1 becomes a permanent genetic element of the infected cell and all its daughter cells. The provirus may exist in a transcriptionally active state thereby contributing to the active infection. On the other hand, the provirus may, for reasons not well understood, become transcriptionally silenced. In this way, the virus creates a pool of infected cells harboring inactive proviruses that can go undetected by the immune system (Finzi et al., 1999; Hiener et al., 2017; Lorenzi et al., 2016; Mbonye and Karn, 2017; Siliciano et al., 2003). This latent reservoir of infected cells can persist despite effective immune control or antiretroviral therapy. Transcriptional reactivation of latently infected cells can then re-establish viral production upon halting of therapy or immune exhaustion.

The latent reservoir of HIV-1 infected cells is considered to be the major barrier obstructing viral eradication. Histone deacetylases, transcriptional activators, and other latency reversal agents have been used both *in vitro* and clinically to reactivate latent viral reservoirs in the hopes of promoting immune clearance of infected cells. However, *in vitro*, *ex vivo*, and humanized mice experiments have shown that HIV-1 specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) fail to eliminate latently infected CD4+ T cell upon transcriptional reactivation unless the CTL are secondarily stimulated (Deng et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2018; Shan et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2016; Spina et al., 2013). This would suggest that the existing immune response to HIV-1 infection is in some way deficient. Indeed, a long body of evidence indicates that HIV-1 alters T cell function beyond simply

depleting them via infection. Chronic HIV-1 infection induces both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells to have an "exhausted" phenotype characterized by the expression of inhibitory receptors and of reduced effector function and cytokine responsiveness. The exact cause of T cell exhaustion is unknown but is known to result from repeated antigen stimulation and inflammation as occurs in chronic HIV-1 infection (Amu et al., 2016; Blackburn et al., 2009; Buggert et al., 2014; Day et al., 2006; Douek et al., 2003; Larsson et al., 2013; Morou et al., 2014; Wherry and Kurachi, 2015; Yamamoto et al., 2011; Zajac et al., 1998).

1.4 HIV-1 interactions with DCs

A functional adaptive immune response depends on proper communication of pathogenic antigens to T cells by antigen presenting cells. The defective immune response to HIV-1 infection may be due to insufficient priming of the adaptive immune system. Dendritic cells (DCs) are a class of highly heterogeneous immune cells tasked with the classification and presentation of antigen to T cells. The specific activation state of the DCs determines the nature and constitution of the immune response elicited by the T cells upon antigen recognition. Self antigen is presented in an inactivated context leading to a tolerogenic immune state. In contrast, DCs present pathogenic antigens in a matured stated leading to protective immunity. Dendritic cells mature upon innate immune recognition of danger associated signals (pathogen associated molecular patterns - PAMPs) by

an array of highly specific pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs). Upon PRR activation, DCs express costimulatory molecules such as CD80 and CD86 as well as secrete numerous cytokines that communicate the nature of the presented antigen to T cells.

As intracellular parasites, virus do not produce completely foreign molecules which would readily distinguish them from the host. As a result, cells often sense infection through the detection of viral nucleic acids by a broad array of PRRs. Innate detection of viral infection generally leads the induction of type 1 interferon (IFN) production as well a large number of interferon stimulated genes (ISG) that elicit extensive antiviral activities. The type 1 IFN response leads to DC maturation and is critical to the generation of an antiviral immune response. Circulating plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) readily endocytose HIV-1 particles and detect HIV-1 RNA via TLR7 and produce copious levels of type I interferon (Beignon et al., 2005; Fonteneau et al., 2004; Lepelley et al., 2011; O'Brien et al., 2013). However, pDCs have limited capacity to stimulate antigen specific T cells (Boasso et al., 2011; Hoeffel et al., 2007; Jaehn et al., 2008).

In contrast, myeloid dendritic cells (mDCs) constitute the body's primary antigen presenting cells and lack expression of TLR7 precluding maturation in response to HIV-1 (Izaguirre et al., 2003; Miller and Bhardwaj, 2013; O'Brien et al., 2013; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2004, 2005). Myeloid dendritic cells are refractory to productive HIV-1 infection with blocks to both entry and reverse transcription.

Infection of a cell by HIV-1 requires binding of cell surface CD4 and CCR5 with the HIV-1 Env glycoprotein complex. This initiates a fusion event that delivers the viral capsid core into the cytoplasm. Surface expression of CD4 on mDCs is prohibitively low and viral endocytosis is driven by alternative interactions with DC-SIGN and other c-type lectins (Chauveau et al., 2017; Granelli-Piperno et al., 2004, 2006; Piquet and Steinman, 2007). Alternatively, viral particles can be captured by surface CD169 and transferred to CD4+ T cells, further potentiating infection (Cameron et al., 1992; Izquierdo-Useros et al., 2012, 2014; Kijewski and Gummuluru, 2015; Piguet and Steinman, 2007). However, immature DCs are more likely to capture HIV-1 via c-type lectins to be endocytosed (Geijtenbeek et al., 2000; Kijewski and Gummuluru, 2015; Piguet and Steinman, 2007; Puryear et al., 2013; Turville et al., 2002). In endosomal compartments, HIV-1 is unable to reverse transcribe and is rapidly degraded. Viral antigens are then processed and presented in the absence of PRR stimulation and DC maturation (Moris et al., 2006). Paradoxically, this may lead to a more tolerogenic immune response with limited antiviral activity. Indeed, it is well documented that HIV-1 specific T cell express inhibitory molecules such as PD-1 and TRAIL (Brown et al., 2010; Day et al., 2006; Khaitan and Unutmaz, 2011; Morou et al., 2014; Trautmann et al., 2006; Wherry and Kurachi, 2015).

The entry block to infection in DCs can be experimentally circumvented when HIV-1 virions are pseudotyped with the glycoprotein of a heterologous virus; most often Vesicular Stomatitis Virus glycoprotein (VSV-G) (Granelli-Piperno et al.,

2000). This allows for the productive release of the HIV-1 capsid into the cytoplasm. However, DCs and other non-dividing myeloid cells contain another block to productive infection. The host dNTP nuclease SAMHD1 restricts reverse transcription in dendritic cells possibly due to depletion of cytoplasmic dNTPs (Goldstone et al., 2011; Lahouassa et al., 2012; Powell et al., 2011) or by an as yet unknown, nuclease independent mechanism (Lim et al., 2012; Reinhard et al., 2014; White et al., 2013). The HIV-2 and SIV specific protein Vpx has been found to rescue this block to infection by promoting the proteasomal degradation of SAMHD1 following CUL4A ubiquitination by direct binding of DCAF1 (Bergamaschi et al., 2009; Hrecka et al., 2011; Sharova et al., 2008; Srivastava et al., 2008). When provided *in trans* via SIV_{MAC}251 viral-like particles (SIV VLPs) the Vpx protein is able to fully facilitate HIV-1 reverse transcription in DCs (Goujon et al., 2006; Laguette et al., 2011; Nègre et al., 2000).





Figure 1.2 HIV-1 transduction of dendritic cells

Dendritic cells are differentiated in vitro following the positive selection of CD14+ monocytes. CD14+ cells are plated at a density of 1 to 2 x 10⁶ cells/ml in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 5% heat inactivated human AB+ serum, 20 mM Lglutamine, 25 mM HEPES pH 7.2, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, and 1x MEM nonessential amino acids (RPMI-HS complete). DCs were generated by culturing monocytes for 6 days in the presence of 1:100 cytokine-conditioned media containing human GM-CSF and human IL-4 (McCauley et al., 2017; Pertel et al., 2011).

Depicted are SIV viral like particles (VLPs) that are produced to deliver Vpx protein which enhances reverse transcription by depleting host SAMHD1. Both the SIV VLPs and the HIV-1 or lentivector are pseudotyped with VSV-glycoprotein to potentiate CD4 independent entry. Dendritic cells do not detect infection from minimal lentivectors and genes can be delivered (GFP) without stimulating the cells (McCauley et al., 2017). However, full length HIV-1 infection does lead to the maturation of DCs as evident by the long extensions spreading outward from the cell body.

1.5 HIV-1 Incoming

The innate immune response to HIV-1 infection has been widely disputed among different labs with greatly varying results. Several groups have failed to detect innate detection in myeloid dendritic cells even under conditions where HIV-1 transduction is optimized using VSV-G pseudotyped virus supplemented with Vpx-containing SIV VLPs (Beignon et al., 2005; Fonteneau et al., 2004; Granelli-Piperno et al., 2004; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2005). In contrast, a growing body of evidence suggests that, depending on the experimental system used, HIV-1 infection can be detected by DCs. For example, a common route of viral detection is through the sensing of unique nucleic acid forms and locations.

Multiple cellular receptors have been shown to detect RNA in a range of viral infections. Endosomal toll-like receptors (TLR) including TLR3, TLR7, and TLR8, as well as cytoplasmic RIG-I like receptors (RLRs) have been well characterized to sense diverse forms of single and double stranded viral RNA (Brencicova and Diebold, 2013; Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2010; Thompson et al., 2011). As a positive sense, single stranded RNA virus with extensive secondary structure, HIV-1 may be exposed to detection from several RNA sensors. As previously mentioned, HIV-1 is readily endocytosed by plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC) where its genomic RNA is detected by TLR7. The main result of which is the production of impressive quantities of IFN α (Beignon et al., 2005; Fonteneau et al., 2004; Haupt et al., 2008; Lepelley et al., 2011; O'Brien et al., 2013; Smed-

Sörensen et al., 2005). However, pDCs have limited capacity to present antigen to T cells and may in fact express inhibitory factors that limit the antiviral T cell response (Boasso et al., 2007, 2011; Hoeffel et al., 2007; Jaehn et al., 2008; Manches et al., 2008). In contrast to pDCs, myeloid dendritic cells have limited expression of TLR7 and IRF7 (essential for TLR7 signaling) and do not detect HIV-1 in the same manner (Bloch et al., 2014; Izaguirre et al., 2003; Jarrossay et al., 2001; Kaisho, 2012; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2005; Wacleche et al., 2018).

Methods of HIV-1 RNA detection by other cellular receptors have been suggested. Although mDCs are impeded in TLR7 RNA detection, TLR8 signaling appears to be intact and has been suggested to detect incoming HIV-1 RNA (Gringhuis et al., 2010). In this study, sensing of HIV-1 RNA by TLR8 was shown to activate NF-kB and acted to enhance transcription of the integrated HIV-1 genome. However, neither DC maturation nor a type 1 interferon response was reported following infection. RIG-I is a cytoplasmic RNA sensor that detects 5' triphosphorylated RNAs as well as RNAs with short double stranded motifs (Reikine et al., 2014). The complex and highly regulated secondary structure of HIV-1 genomic RNA has been implicated as a substrate for RIG-I signaling in cell lines and human PBMCs (Berg et al., 2012; Solis et al., 2011). However, these experiments were completed through transfection of various HIV-1 derived RNA motifs as opposed to direct HIV-1 challenge. As such, the relevance of these observations to true HIV-1 challenge or in cells types like DCs is still unknown.

The TREX1 protein is a cytosolic DNA nuclease has been reported to degrade cytoplasmic HIV-1 cDNA following reverse transcription of the RNA genome (Yan et al., 2010). Depletion of TREX1 protein resulted in the accumulation of excess reverse transcribed viral cDNA leading to the activation of an unknown cytoplasmic DNA sensor. Supporting this model, TREX1 knockdown was shown to inhibit HIV-1 infection *in vitro* and in humanized mice through the induction of an antiviral interferon response (Wheeler et al., 2016). Furthermore, in a THP1 model of HIV-1 infection, innate activation was shown to be dependent on the expression level of TREX1 as due to its degradation of partial reverse transcription products (Kumar et al., 2018).

The resultant detection of reverse transcribed viral cDNA in dendritic cells was argued to be mediated by the cytoplasmic DNA sensor, cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) (Gao et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2013). Double stranded DNA or single stranded DNA with Y-form secondary structure activates the cGAS enzyme to produce the secondary messenger cGAMP (cyclic GMP-AMP) to activate STING and, consequently, IFN via IRF3 (Chen et al., 2016; Herzner et al., 2015; Yoh et al., 2015). HIV-1 transduction led to cGAMP production and IRF3 dimerization in monocyte derived dendritic cells and macrophages only when reverse transcription was facilitated through the addition of Vpx (Gao et al., 2013). In similar experiments, polyglutamine binding protein 1 (PQBP1) was also found to directly bind HIV-1 cDNA (Yoh et al., 2015). This interaction led to a type 1 interferon response that was dependent on cGAS; implying a model where

the specific binding capacity of retroviral cDNA is modulated by interactions with both cGAS and PQBP1 as a complex.

In another study, HIV-1 cDNA was found not to be sensed by DCs even upon depletion of SAMHD1 by Vpx. Mutation of the HIV-1 capsid protein (CA) to increase affinity for the cytoplasmic protein cyclophilin A (CypA) led to detection and DC maturation (Lahaye et al., 2013). CypA binds to the HIV-1 capsid structure following viral entry and leads to stabilization of the capsid structure and regulation of capsid disassembly (De Iaco and Luban, 2014; Franke et al., 1994; Li et al., 2009; Luban et al., 1993; Sokolskaja et al., 2006; Thali et al., 1994). Sheltered in the capsid structure, viral cDNA is ostensibly protected from cGAS detection. Increasing the CA affinity to CypA was suggested to lead to premature capsid uncoating thereby leaving the HIV-1 cDNA exposed prior to nuclear entry (Lahaye et al., 2013; Maelfait et al., 2014).

In partial agreement with this model, HIV-1 was reported to circumvent innate detection in monocyte derived macrophages through CA interactions with both CypA and CPSF6 (Rasaiyaah et al., 2013). CPSF6, an mRNA polyadenylation factor, associates with CA to facilitate HIV-1 nuclear import through association with the importin TNPO3 (Brass et al., 2008; De Iaco et al., 2013; Price et al., 2012; Valle-Casuso et al., 2012). Mutations blocking these interactions inhibited HIV-1 infection through the induction of type 1 interferon following production of cGAMP, thereby implicating cGAS detection of cDNA (Rasaiyaah et al., 2013).

However, this interaction did not depend on Vpx promotion of reverse transcription, possibly due to differential restriction of reverse transcription by SAMHD1 in macrophages (Cribier et al., 2013; White et al., 2013). Furthermore, innate detection of HIV-1 was proposed to be promoted by reduction of CypA-CA binding as opposed to increased binding as suggested in DCs.

IFI16, another cellular DNA sensor, has also been shown to detect transfected, HIV-1 based DNA sequences and induce type 1 interferon in macrophages (Jakobsen et al., 2013). Similarly, IFI16 was implicated to sense products of incomplete reverse transcription in resting CD4+ T cells isolated from tonsil explants (Monroe et al., 2014). This led to caspase 1 activation, induction of the IL1β inflammasome, and consequently, bystander T cell death as due to pyroptosis (Doitsh et al., 2010). As CD4+ T cells constitute the primary target of HIV-1 replication, the observation that IFI16 may also detect HIV-1 cDNA and lead to indirect T cell depletion is of considerable interest. However, an analogous mechanism of IFI16 has not been observed in specialized antigen presenting such as dendritic cells and macrophages. Similarly to the role of PQBP1 in modulating cGAS activity, IFI16 has also been suggested to function as a cofactor in cGAS recognition of HIV-1 reverse transcription products (Jønsson et al., 2017). In this study, knockdown of IFI16 led to decreased production cGAMP and attenuated the cGAS-STING dependent innate immune response to Vpx-assisted HIV-1 infection in macrophages. This supports a cGAS detection model in which retroviral cDNA is detected in the cytoplasm by

cGAS with proteins including PQBP1 and IFI16 acting to enhance retroviral DNA binding and enzymatic activity (Jønsson et al., 2017; Sumner et al., 2017).

Figure 1.3



Figure 1.3 Detection of intracellular viral cDNA

I. The HIV-1 capsid complex may not sufficiently disassemble enough prior to nuclear transport to allow cytoplasmic DNA sensors access to viral cDNA, thereby bypassing cytoplasmic detection (Lahaye et al., 2013; Maelfait et al., 2014; Rasaiyaah et al., 2013). II. The viral capsid may also uncoat sufficiently prior to nuclear entry and allow cytoplasmic access (Campbell and Hope, 2015) **III.** Once open to the cytoplasm, viral cDNA may be degraded by the nuclease TREX1 (Kumar et al., 2018; Wheeler et al., 2016; Yan et al., 2010) IV. Cellular detection of HIV-1 reverse transcribed cDNA is likely driven by cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) (Chen et al., 2016; Gao et al., 2013; Herzner et al., 2015; Lahaye et al., 2013). Although other factors such as polyglutamine binding protein 1 (PQBP1) and interferon-y inducible protein 16 (IFI16) may also bind HIV-1 cDNA and act to enhance cGAS activity (Jakobsen et al., 2013; Jønsson et al., 2017; Yoh et al., 2015). Following detection, cGAS produces cyclic GAMP which activates ER bound stimulator of interferon genes (STING) which stimulates TBK1 to phosphorylate IRF3. Phosphorylated IRF3 then dimerizes and transports to the nucleus to drive type 1 interferon expression (Chen et al., 2016).

1.5 Detection of HIV-1 Post Integration

Sensing of reverse transcription products, be they ssDNA, dsDNA, or RNA-DNA hybrids, are events that intuitively would occur prior to HIV-1 genomic integration. Rather than detection of products of HIV-1 reverse transcription prior to incorporation into the host chromosomal DNA, evidence exists for mechanisms of detection dependent on viral integration and transcription. However, as with pre-integration sensing, these studies vary considerably in reported determinants and mechanism of innate activation.

The act of integration itself is a process that requires the insertion of a copy of foreign DNA into host chromosomal DNA. The viral pre-integration complex (PIC) associates with LEDGF/p75 to target integration site selection to chromosomal locations of high transcriptional activity (Ciuffi et al., 2005; Marshall et al., 2007; Shun et al., 2007). The enzymatic operation consists of the HIV-1 integrase enzyme cleaving target DNA phosphodiester bonds to induce a strand transfer reaction. A diverse number of host DNA damage complexes are then recruited to repair the lesion (Craigie and Bushman, 2012; Lesbats et al., 2016). The commissioning of DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), an important enzymatic and signaling regulator of the non-homologous end joining DNA repair pathway, has also been suggested to induce innate immune activation in CD4+ T cells (Cooper et al., 2013). In this study, *in vitro* HIV-1 infection of cell lines and PBMCs led to acute CD4+ T cell death that was found to be dependent on

integration. Signaling of DNA damage by DNA-PK prompted p53 activation and induction of cell death. However, this mechanism of detection has not been identified in other cells types such as dendritic cells and still requires independent verification.

Following integration, HIV-1 transcribes its RNA in multiple forms through intricate alternative splicing through a complex process of internal regulation. In this way, HIV-1 is able to produce 15 different protein products from only a single 9 kb pre-mRNA genome (Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012; Stoltzfus and Madsen, 2006). The main product of unspliced, genomic HIV-1 RNA is the structural polyprotein Gag. In dendritic cells, produced Gag itself has been suggested to be directly detected by the innate immune system (Manel et al., 2010). In this study, HIV-1 transduction of dendritic cells induced maturation and a type 1 interferon response. This response was dependent on both Vpx facilitation of reverse transcription and on productive integration. Binding of CypA to capsid, contained within de novo synthesized Gag polyprotein, induced an IRF3 dependent type 1 interferon response through an unknown signaling mechanism. However, more recent work by this group has instead pursued cGAS detection of pre-integrated viral cDNA as a primary mechanism for the innate activation seen in DCs following optimized HIV-1 challenge (Lahaye et al., 2013; Silvin and Manel, 2015).
Counterintuitively, cGAS detection of HIV-1 infection has also been suggested to be dependent on prior integration (Vermeire et al., 2016). In this study, HIV-1 infection of IL2/PHA activated CD4+ T cells induced the production of type 1 interferon that was inhibited upon blocking of either viral integration or transcription. Knockdown of cGAS or its downstream effectors STING or IRF3 abrogated interferon or ISG production. Although the authors argue that *de novo* Vpr and Vpu respectively act to potentiate or suppress the antiviral response, a mechanism of cytoplasmic DNA sensing by cGAS following HIV-1 proviral integration is not elucidated. Furthermore, even though experiments verifying interferon induction and Vpu and Vpr interactions were corroborated in DCs, post integration cGAS sensing is not described in cells other than CD4+ T cells (Vermeire et al., 2016).

A recent promontory study has proposed a mechanism of innate detection of HIV-1 in dendritic cells involving determinants both before and after viral integration (Johnson et al., 2018). Infection of DCs with a myeloid tropic HIV-1, in the presence of Vpx, induced robust DC maturation as evident by CD86 and type 1 interferon expression. Inhibition of HIV-1 integration either with Raltegravir or an integrase deactivating mutation, D116, greatly reduced, but did not abolish, the innate response to Vpx-assisted HIV-1 challenge. Secondary stimulation of DCs with R848, a TLR7/8 agonist and activator of NF-κB, was shown to rescue high level interferon expression in integration deficient infections. Knockdowns in monocyte derived dendritic cells, or CRISPR

knockouts in THP1 derived DCs, of the cGAS-STING-IRF3 pathway all reduced maturation and ISG expression. Importantly, disruptions of IFI16, MAVS, PKR, IRF1, IRF5, IRF7, or IRF9 had no effect on sensing of HIV-1 whether or not viral integration was inhibited (Johnson et al., 2018). The authors conclude a complex model in which cGAS detection of HIV-1 reverse transcription products "primes" a low-level type 1 interferon response which, following integration and transcription, is amplified by activation of NF-κB. However, neither the determinant by which integration and viral production is sensed nor the mechanism for the resultant NF-κB activation is determined by this study. However, this remains an intriguing hypothesis that may serve to clarify many of the seeming conflicting observations reported for HIV-1 innate detection.

1.6 Sensing of HIV-1 RNA Processing

Following integration, HIV-1 transcribes its RNA and processes it through complex alternative splicing and differential export. HIV-1 processes its premRNA into over 100 different alternatively spliced variants (Ocwieja et al., 2012). As described previously, HIV-1 RNA motifs have been suggested to be substrates for the cytoplasmic RNA receptor RIG-I (Berg et al., 2012; Solis et al., 2011). The implications for these studies suggest that incoming HIV-1 genomic RNA may be innately detected prior to reverse transcription or integration. However, these studies are limited mainly to RNA transfections in cell lines and would be unable to distinguish whether *de novo* HIV-1 RNAs, as opposed to incoming virion associated genomic RNA, could be detected. One study has described a mechanism in which newly transcribed HIV-1 RNA is sensed by the host helicase DDX3 (Gringhuis et al., 2016). In this study, DDX3 was found to detect abortive HIV-1 RNA transcripts in a manner dependent on HIV-1 integration. Dendritic cell transfection of short HIV-1 RNAs, found in abortive, Tat independent transcription, led to type 1 interferon induction in a manner dependent on both DDX3 and MAVS. Knockdowns of DDX3 and MAVS in DCs similarly inhibited maturation upon challenge with myeloid tropic HIV-1; however, it is unknown whether abortive transcription products constitute the determinant for detection in primary cell infection.

Transcription of the integrated HIV-1 genome follows the binding of cellular factors including NF-κB, Sp1, TATA box binding protein (TBP), and RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II) to the promoter element of the 5' long terminal repeat (LTR). This minimal complex allows for the transcription of a low level of viral transcripts, which subsequently undergo splicing and processing (Das et al., 2011; Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012; Nabel and Baltimore, 1987; Rittner et al., 1995; Tahirov et al., 2010). Binding of Tat recruits the positive transcriptional elongation factor (P-TEFb) which phosphorylates RNA Pol II leading to a significant enhancement of HIV-1 transcription.

Three classes of HIV-1 mRNAs result from HIV-1 RNA transcription and splicing: unspliced genome RNA encoding Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins, partially spliced RNAs producing Env, Vif, or Vpu, and multiply spliced RNA for synthesis of Rev, Tat, Vpr, or Nef (Karn and Stoltzfus, 2012; Pan et al., 2008; Purcell and Martin, 1993; Schwartz et al., 1990; Stoltzfus, 2009). Multiply spliced HIV-1 RNAs are exported from the nucleus using the canonical NXF1 mRNA export pathway. In contrast, partially spliced and full length HIV-1 RNA retain the major Env intron and are restrained to the nucleus due to the formation of splicing complexes (Jensen et al., 2003; Sommer and Nehrbass, 2005; Stutz and Izaurralde, 2003). Other retroviruses bypass this restriction by encoding constitutive transport elements (CTE) that directly bind NXF1 to potentiate export (Aibara et al., 2015; Cullen, 2003; Pilkington et al., 2014; Pocock et al., 2016; Rekosh and Hammarskjold, 2018). While experiments have shown that CTE elements are sufficient to support HIV-1 RNA export, HIV-1 naturally uses an alternative export pathway (Bray et al., 1994; Smulevitch et al., 2006; Valentin et al., 1997). The HIV-1 protein Rev, itself produced from an early, fully spliced transcript, binds to and multimerizes upon the Rev response element (RRE) contained within the Env intron. In turn, Rev binds to the karyopherin CRM1 to potentiate nuclear export, sans completion of splicing (Cullen, 2003; Nakielny and Dreyfuss, 1999).

The specialized export of intron containing RNAs is a mechanism not normally utilized in mammalian cells and could potentially be sensed as a danger signal. Indeed, Rev mediated export of intron containing RNA has been shown to induce innate activation in DCs, macrophages, and CD4+ T cells (Akiyama et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017). Challenge with HIV-1 was shown to induce a type 1 interferon response that was unreliant on cGAS-IRF3 signaling in both DCs (McCauley et al., 2017) and macrophages (Akiyama et al., 2017). This response was shown to be dependent upon integration and transcription of the provirus. Furthermore, mutations or deletions of HIV-1 coding sequence failed to limit ISG induction suggesting a lack of sequence necessity. Importantly, while VSV-G pseudotyping and Vpx addition enhanced infectivity and innate activation, both were unnecessary to induce DC maturation in infected cells.

Maturation of DCs was still observed upon replacement of Tat mediated transcriptional transactivation for a doxycycline inducible HIV-1 (Tet-HIV-1) construct. Innate activation was seen upon transcriptional activation by doxycycline stimulation. Furthermore, separation of Tet-HIV-1 transduction and doxycycline addition for nine days did not limit DC or T cell activation (McCauley et al., 2017). This suggests that possible detection or priming mechanisms prior to integration and expression are unnecessary for HIV-1 transcription dependent innate activation. In contrast, inhibition of CRM1 HIV-1 RNA export with leptomycin or with Rev/RRE mutations completely abrogated innate activation. However, rescue of unspliced export using heterologous retroviral CTEs to promote canonical NXF1 RNA export failed to promote DC and macrophage activation indicating that Rev-CRM1 mediated transport of unspliced RNA is indispensable for detection.

Both groups support a model where HIV-1 export of intron containing RNA through the CRM1 pathway induces innate activation in DCs, macrophages, and T cells. Furthermore, the authors suggest that the type 1 interferon response induced upon HIV-1 transcription and RNA export may contribute to long term pathogenesis in HIV-1 infection. Chronic inflammation persists in patients on effective antiretroviral therapy (ART) regardless of having clinically undetectable viral loads (Brenchley et al., 2006; Deeks et al., 2013; Sinha et al., 2016; Taiwo et al., 2013). It is known that the HIV-1 proviral reservoir in patients on ART is composed of only a small percentage of intact, replication competent sequences with the majority harboring deactivating mutations and deletions (Barton et al., 2016; Bruner et al., 2016; Cohn et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2018; Lorenzi et al., 2016; Pollack et al., 2017). A priori, any cell harboring a provirus capable of Rev-CRM1 export, regardless of its ability to continue replication, could initiate transcription and induce an antiviral response contributing to systemic inflammation (Akiyama et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017).

1.7 Perspectives

DCs are highly refractory to productive HIV-1 infection with blocks to both CD4-Env mediated viral entry as well as reverse transcription as due to SAMHD1. HIV-1 entry into DCs can be promoted experimentally through VSV-G pseudotyping allowing for CD4-Env independent fusion (Granelli-Piperno et al., 2000). Furthermore, the addition of the SIV/HIV-2 Vpx protein leads to SAMHD1 degradation thereby alleviating the block to reverse transcription (Bergamaschi et al., 2009; Sharova et al., 2008; Srivastava et al., 2008). Under these *in vitro* circumstances, DCs can be efficiently and productively infected. However, these are artificial conditions; useful and essential for experimentation, but not reflective of the fact that, *in vivo*, DCs are not efficiently infected with HIV-1. Furthermore, they do not appear to detect HIV-1 in a manner leading to innate activation (Fonteneau et al., 2004; Manches et al., 2014; Miller and Bhardwaj, 2013; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2004). Instead, HIV-1 antigen is processed and presented to T cells in a non-activated state, very likely leading to a stunted and ineffective antiviral state.

Understanding how dendritic cells interact with HIV-1 in both normal and optimized systems is important in the development of rational and effective anti-HIV-1 immunotherapies and vaccines. Studies have shown that advanced DC function correlates with better immune function and disease control. Elite controllers, also known as long term non-progressors (LTNP), are individuals who have the capacity to resist progression to AIDS without antiretroviral treatment. T cell responses in elite controllers are much more functional and effective at controlling viral replication (Betts et al., 2006; Imami et al., 2013; Porichis and Kaufmann, 2011). It is possible that the improvement to the antiviral response is due to superior T cell priming by DCs more reactive to the HIV-1 virus. Indeed, dendritic cells of elite controllers have improved capacity to sense

HIV-1 and to induce type 1 interferon as a result (Manches et al., 2014; Martin-Gayo et al., 2015, 2018). As such, this stands as compelling evidence that improving DC responsiveness to HIV-1 may be effective as a functional cure or prophylactic vaccine to HIV-1 infection.

CHAPTER II

Intron-containing RNA from the HIV-1 provirus activates type I interferon

and inflammatory cytokines

Adapted from the publication:

McCauley, S.M., Kim, K., Nowosielska, A., Dauphin, A., Diehl, W.E., and Luban,

J. (2017). Intron-containing RNA from the HIV-1 provirus activates type I $% \mathcal{A}$

interferon and inflammatory cytokines. bioRxiv

2.1 Summary

HIV-1-infected people who take drugs that suppress viremia to undetectable levels are protected from developing AIDS (Günthard et al., 2016). Nonetheless, these individuals have chronic inflammation associated with heightened risk of cardiovascular pathology (Brenchley et al., 2006; Freiberg et al., 2013; Sinha et al., 2016). HIV-1 establishes proviruses in long-lived CD4⁺ memory T cells, and perhaps other cell types (Jiang et al., 2015; Kandathil et al., 2016; Siliciano et al., 2003), that preclude elimination of the virus even after years of continuous antiviral therapy (Davey et al., 1999). Though the majority of proviruses that persist during antiviral therapy are defective for production of infectious virions (Bruner et al., 2016), many are expressed (Wiegand et al., 2017), raising the possibility that the HIV-1 provirus or its transcripts contribute to ongoing inflammation. Here we found that the HIV-1 provirus activated innate immune signaling in isolated dendritic cells, macrophages, and CD4⁺ T cells. Immune activation required transcription from the HIV-1 provirus and expression of CRM1-dependent, Rev-dependent, RRE-containing, unspliced HIV-1 RNA. If rev was provided *in trans*, all HIV-1 coding sequences were dispensable for activation except those *cis*-acting sequences required for replication or splicing. These results indicate that the complex, post-transcriptional regulation intrinsic to HIV-1 RNA is detected by the innate immune system as a danger signal, and that drugs which disrupt HIV-1 transcription or HIV-1 RNA metabolism would add qualitative benefit to current antiviral drug regimens.

2.2 HIV-1 transduction matures dendritic cells

To determine if HIV-1 proviruses activate innate immune signaling, human blood cells were transduced with single-cycle vectors, either a full-length, single-cycle HIV-1 clone with a frameshift in *env* and eGFP in place of *nef* (HIV-1-GFP) (He et al., 1997), or a minimal 3-part lentivector encoding GFP (Fig. 2.1a, Table 2.1) (Pertel et al., 2011). Monocyte derived dendritic cells (DCs) were challenged initially since HIV-1 transduction of these specialized antigen-presenting cells activates innate immune signaling (Berg et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2013; Landau, 2014; Manel et al., 2010; Rasaiyaah et al., 2013). To increase the efficiency of provirus establishment, vectors were pseudotyped with the vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein (VSV G) and delivered concurrently with virus-like particles (VLPs) bearing SIV_{MAC}251 Vpx (Fig. 2.1b) (Goujon et al., 2006; Pertel et al., 2011). Transduction efficiency, as determined by flow cytometry for GFP-positive cells, was 30-60% (Fig. 2.1b), depending on the blood donor.

DCs matured in response to HIV-1-GFP transduction, as indicated by increased mean fluorescence intensity of co-stimulatory or activation molecules, including HLA-DR, CD80, CD86, CD40, CD83, CCR7, CD141, ISG15, MX1, and IFIT (Sousa, 2006) (Fig. 2.1b, c). Maturation was evident among both GFP positive and negative cells (Fig. 2.1b), the latter resulting from activation *in trans* by type 1 IFN as several others have shown (Manel et al., 2010; Rasaiyaah et al., 2013).

Identical results were obtained with full-length, single-cycle vectors generated from primary, transmitted/founder clones that were derived by single genome sequencing, HIV-1-AD17 (Parrish et al., 2013), HIV-1-Z331M-TF (Deymier et al., 2015), and HIV-1-ZM249M (Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009), the first virus being clade B, the other two clade C (Fig. 2.1d). A single cycle HIV-2 vector induced maturation, indicating that this innate response was not unique to HIV-1 (Fig. 2.1e).

DCs matured when HIV-1-GFP transduction efficiency was augmented with nucleosides (Reinhard et al., 2014), rather than with SIV VLPs, indicating that Vpx was not required for maturation (Fig. 2.1f). DCs were then challenged with replication-competent HIV-1 bearing CCR5-tropic Env, either T cell-tropic or macrophage-tropic (Granelli-Piperno et al., 1998), with or without Vpx-VLPs (Fig. 2.1g). The percent of cells transduced by vector bearing either Env increased with Vpx, though DC maturation was observed under all conditions, even among the very few DCs transduced by T cell-tropic *env* (see inset of Fig. 2.1g). These results indicate that neither VSV G, nor Vpx, nor high-titer infection, was required for DC maturation.

In response to transduction with HIV-1-GFP, steady-state *CXCL10*, *IFNB1*, and *IL15* mRNAs reached maximum levels at 48 hrs, increasing 31,000-, 92-, and 140-fold relative to mock-treated cells, respectively (Fig. 2.1h, i). Correspondingly, IFNα2, CCL7, IL-6, CXCL10, and TNFα proteins accumulated

41

in the supernatant (Fig. 2.1j). In contrast to the results with HIV-1-GFP, there were no signs of maturation after transduction with the 3-part minimal lentivector (Fig. 2.1b, h, j).







Figure 2.1



Figure 2.1 HIV-1 transduction matures DCs.

a, Schematic of HIV-1-GFP, with frameshift in env (red line) and gfp in place of *nef (He et al., 1997)*, and of the minimal lentivector, with self-inactivating $\Delta U3$ LTR (Zufferey et al., 1998) and *gfp* driven by the SFFV promoter (Pertel et al., 2011). Unless indicated otherwise, vectors were pseudotyped with VSV G and cells were co-transduced with SIV_{MAC}251 VLPs bearing Vpx. b, Flow cytometry of DCs for GFP and CD86, after treatment as indicated. **c**, Flow cytometry histograms for the indicated markers 72 hrs after DC transduction with HIV-1 (red) or mock (black). **d**, Flow cytometry of DCs for GFP and CD86 after transduction with single-cycle clones, HIV-1-NL4-3, HIV-1-AD17, HIV-1-Z331M-TF, or HIV-1-ZM249M. e, Transduction of DCs with HIV-2-ROD-GFP, singlecycle vector. f, DC transduction with HIV-1-GFP in the absence of Vpx and the presence of 2 mM nucleosides. **g**, 12 day spreading infection on DCs, with macrophage-tropic or T cell-tropic, replication-competent HIV-1, with or without SIV VLPs. h, qRT-PCR quantitation of CXCL10 (black), IFNB1 (gray), or IL15 (white) mRNAs from DCs transduced with HIV-1-GFP. i, gRT-PCR quantitation of CXCL10 mRNA in DCs transduced with either HIV-1-GFP or minimal lentivector, assessed at the indicated times post-transduction. **j**, Cytokines in DC supernatant as assessed by luminex, 72 hrs after transduction with HIV-1-GFP (black) or minimal lentivector (gray).

Shown are blood donor data representative of n=12 (**b**), n=4 (**c**, **d**, **e**, **f**, **h**, **i**, **j**), or n=8 (**g**). To determine significance, the MFI of all live cells for each sample was calculated as fold-change of variable versus negative control for the indicated marker. The exception being (**g**) where the MFI of only GFP+ cells was compared. Combined flow cytometry MFI fold change data for all donor replicates is represented by the associated dot plots. Significance was tested in all flow cytometry data by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test comparing test against minimal lentivector negative (* = p ≤ 0.05, ** = p ≤ 0.01, *** = p ≤ 0.001). qRT-PCR and Luminex data are displayed as mean +/- SD, with significance test against correspondingly-timed negative control by two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-test (* = p ≤ 0.05, ** = p ≤ 0.01, *** = p ≤ 0.001).

2.3 Maturation requires integration, independent of coding sequence

To determine if early stages in the HIV-1 replication cycle were necessary for maturation, reverse transcription was inhibited by nevirapine (NVP) or the HIV-1 RT mutant D185K/D186L, and integration was inhibited with Raltegravir (RALT) or the HIV-1 IN mutant D116A (Table 2.1, 2.2), as previously described (De Iaco and Luban, 2011). Each of these four conditions abrogated maturation, as indicated by cell surface CD86 (Fig. 2.2a) and steady-state *CXCL10* mRNA (Fig. 2.2b). When integration was inhibited, *CXCL10* mRNA increased in response to challenge with HIV-1-GFP, but levels were nearly 1,000 times lower than when integration was not blocked (Fig. 2.2b).

HIV-1 virion RNA and newly synthesized viral cDNA are reported to be detected by RIG-I and by cGAS, respectively (Berg et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2013). Signal transduction downstream of both sensors requires TBK1 and IRF3. The TBK1 inhibitor BX795 (Table 2.1) blocked DC maturation in response to cGAMP but had no effect on maturation after HIV-1-GFP transduction (Fig. 2.2c). Moreover, IRF3 knockdown (Table 2.1) (Pertel et al., 2011) suppressed activation of CD86 or ISG15 in response to cGAMP, but not in response to HIV-1 transduction (Fig. 2.2c). Similarly, no effect on HIV-1-induced DC maturation was observed with knockdown of IRF1, 5, 7, or 9, or of STAT1 or 2, (Pertel et al., 2011), or of pharmacologic inhibition of CypA, PKR, c-Raf, IkBa, NF-kB, MEK1+2, p38, JNK, Caspase 1, pan-Caspases, ASK1, eIF2a, TBK1, IKKe, TAK1, or NLRP3. Under the conditions used here, then, DC maturation required reverse transcription and integration but was independent of most well characterized innate immune signaling pathways.

Completion of the HIV-1 integration reaction requires cellular DNA repair enzymes (Craigie and Bushman, 2012). That DCs did not mature in response to transduction with minimal lentivectors (Fig. 2.1b, i, j) indicates that activation of the DNA repair process is not sufficient, and that transcription from the HIV-1-GFP provirus must be necessary for maturation. Indeed, *gag* expression from an integrated vector has been reported to be necessary for DC maturation (Manel et al., 2010). To determine if any individual HIV-1 proteins were sufficient to mature DCs, a minimal lentivector was used to express codon optimized versions of each of the open reading frames possessed by HIV-1-GFP (Fig. 2.2d, Table 2.1). Among these vectors was a *gag*-expression vector that produced as much p24 protein as did HIV-1-GFP (Fig. 2.2d). None of these vectors matured DCs (Fig. 2.2d).

HIV-1-GFP was then mutated to determine if any protein coding sequences were necessary for DC maturation. For these and any subsequent experiments in which an essential viral component was disrupted within HIV-1-GFP, the factor in question was provided *in trans*, either during assembly in transfected HEK293 cells, or within transduced DCs, as appropriate (see Methods). Mutations that disrupted both *gag* and *pol*, either a double frameshift in *gag*, or a mutant in

49

which the first 14 ATGs in *gag* were mutated, abolished synthesis of CA (p24) yet retained full maturation activity (Fig. 2.2e, Table 2.1). Deletion mutations encompassing *gag/pol, vif/vpr, vpu/env*, or *nef/*U3-LTR, each designed so as to leave *cis*-acting RNA elements intact, all matured DCs (Fig. 2.2f, Table 2.1). These results indicate that these HIV-1-GFP RNA sequences, as well as the proteins that they encode, were not required for DC maturation.

Tat and Rev coding sequences were individually disrupted by combining start codon point mutations with nonsense codons that were silent with respect to overlapping reading frames (Table 2.1). Neither Δtat nor Δrev matured DCs upon transduction (Fig. 2.2g). However, DCs matured upon co-transduction of Δtat and Δrev , or when minimal lentivectors expressing codon-optimized Tat and Rev were co-transduced *in trans* (Fig. 2.2g). These results indicate that the maturation defect with the individual vectors was due to disruption of Tat and Rev function, and not due to a *cis*-acting defect of the mutant RNA.

The minimal 3-part lentivector expressed GFP from a heterologous promoter and had a deletion mutation encompassing the essential, *cis*-acting TATA box and enhancer elements (Zufferey et al., 1998), as well as in the *trans*-acting *tat* and *rev*, that inactivated the promoter in the proviral 5' LTR (Fig. 2.1a). To test the importance of LTR-driven transcription for DC maturation by the HIV-1 provirus, the HIV-1 LTR was restored in the minimal vector (Fig. 2.2h, Table 1); in addition, GFP was inserted in place of *gag* as a marker for LTR expression, and the

heterologous promoter was used to drive *tat*, *rev*, or both genes separated by P2A coding sequence (Fig. 2h). None of the LTR-driven, minimal vectors matured DCs (Fig. 2.2h).

Figure 2.2





Figure 2.2

(continued)



Figure 2.2 HIV-1 RNA regulation is necessary for DC maturation, but LTRdriven transcription is insufficient and coding sequences are not necessary.

a, Assessment of GFP and CD86 by flow cytometry following transduction with, top, HIV-1-GFP in the presence of 5 μ M nevirapine (RTi), 10 μ M raltegravir (INi), or no drug, and, bottom, HIV-1-GFP bearing mutant RT-D185K/D186L (RTmut) or mutant IN-D116A (INmut). **b**, qRT-PCR quantitation of CXCL10 mRNA from the same DCs as in (a). **c**, DCs treated with 1 μ M of the TBK1 inhibitor BX795, or expressing shRNAs targeting either IRF3 or luciferase control(Pertel et al., 2011), were challenged with 25 µg/mL cGAMP or HIV-1-GFP and assayed by flow cytometry for CD86 and ISG15. d, Flow cytometry of DCs after transduction with minimal lentivectors expressing codon optimized HIV-1 genes; e, HIV-1-GFP in which translation was disrupted by two frameshifts in gag or by mutation of the first 14 AUGs in gag; f, HIV-1-GFP bearing deletion mutations encompassing gag/pol, vif/vpr, vpu/env, or nef/U3-LTR; g, HIV-1-GFP bearing mutations in tat or rev, co-transduced with both mutants, or co-transduced with minimal vector expressing tat and rev in trans; or h, minimal lentivector with GFP in place of gag, SFFV promoter driving expression of tat, rev, or both, and repaired U3 in the 3' LTR; the latter restores 5'-LTR-directed transcription to the provirus as a result of the reverse transcription strand-transfer reactions. When an essential viral component was disrupted within HIV-1-GFP, the factor in question was provided in trans, either during assembly in transfected HEK293 cells, or within transduced

DCs, as appropriate (see Methods). Shown are blood donor data representative of n=6 (a, b, e, f), n=12 (c, g, h), n=8 (d).

To determine significance, the MFI of individual flow cytometry samples was calculated as fold-change of variable versus negative control for the indicated marker. Combined flow cytometry MFI fold change data for all donor replicates is represented by the associated dot plots. Significance was tested in all flow cytometry data by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test comparing test against minimal lentivector negative (* = $p \le 0.05$, ** = $p \le 0.01$, *** = $p \le 0.001$). qRT-PCR data are displayed as mean +/- SD, with significance test against correspondingly-timed negative control by two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-test (* = $p \le 0.05$, ** = $p \le 0.001$, **** = $p \le 0.0001$, ****

2.4 Maturation requires transcription and Rev-mediated export

To determine if *tat* was necessary for DC maturation, *tat* and TAR were mutated in HIV-1-GFP and the LTR promoter was modified to be tetracycline-inducible, as previously described (Das and Berkhout, 2016) (Tet-HIV-1 in Fig. 2.3a Table 2.1). The doxycycline-dependent reverse transactivator (*rtTA*) was delivered *in trans* by lentivector. In the presence of doxycycline (Table 2.2), Tet-HIV-1 and rtTA matured DCs when given in combination, but neither vector matured DCs when given in isolation (Fig. 2.3a). Additionally, the magnitude of cell surface CD86 was dependent on the doxycycline concentration, indicating that maturation was dependent on the level of HIV-1 transcription (Fig. 3b). These results demonstrated that *tat* was not required for maturation, so long as the provirus was expressed.

To ascertain whether *rev* was necessary for DC maturation, the RTE from a murine intracisternal A-particle retroelement (IAP), and the CTE from SRV-1, were inserted in place of *nef* (HIV-RTE/CTE in Fig. 2.3c, Table 2.1) (Smulevitch et al., 2006). Each of these elements utilizes the NXF1 nuclear RNA export pathway, thereby bypassing the need for CRM1 and *rev* (Fornerod et al., 1997). p24 levels with this construct were similar to those of HIV-1-GFP, indicating that unspliced RNA was exported from the nucleus at least as well as with Rev (Fig. 2.3c). Nonetheless, the HIV-RTE/CTE vector did not mature DCs (Fig. 2.3c), indicating that maturation was dependent upon *rev* and CRM1-mediated RNA

export. Consistent with this conclusion, the CRM1 inhibitor leptomycin B (Table 2.2) abrogated DC maturation by HIV-1-GFP (Fig. 2.3d). In contrast, leptomycin B had no effect on DC maturation in response to Sendai virus infection (Fig. 2.3e). ISG15 was used to monitor maturation in these experiments since, as previously reported for DCs, leptomycin B altered background levels of CD86 (Chemnitz et al., 2010).





Figure 2.3

Continued







Figure 2.3 Rev-mediated RNA export is necessary for DC maturation but Tat is dispensable

a, 2xTet operator(Das and Berkhout, 2016) was cloned into the 3'LTR of HIV-1-GFPAtat to generate Tet-HIV-1; strand-transfer reactions that occur during reverse transcription generate a Tet-regulated 5'-LTR in the provirus. DCs transduced with Tet-HIV-1, rtTA3, or both, were treated for 3 d with 500 ng/mL doxycycline and assayed by flow cytometry for p24, GFP, and CD86. b, DCs cotransduced with Tet-HIV-1 and rtTA3 were treated with increasing concentrations of doxycycline. **c**, To generate HIV-1-RTE/CTE, the RTEm26CTE element (Smulevitch et al., 2006) was cloned in place of *nef* in HIV-1-GFP $\Delta rev/\Delta RRE$. DCs were transduced with the indicated vectors and assessed for p24 and ISG15 by flow cytometry. d, DCs were treated with 25 nM leptomycin B, transduced with HIV-1-GFP, and assessed for GFP and ISG15 by flow cytometry. e, DCs were treated with 25 nM leptomycin B, transduced with HIV-1-GFP or infected with Sendai virus (SeV), and assessed for ISG15 by flow cytometry. Shown are blood donor data representative of n=10 (**a**, **c**), n=4 (**b**), n=6 (**d, e**).

To determine significance, the MFI of individual flow cytometry samples was calculated as fold-change of variable versus negative control for the indicated marker. Combined flow cytometry MFI fold change data for all donor replicates is represented by the associated dot plots. Significance was tested in all flow

cytometry data by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test comparing test against minimal lentivector negative (* = p ≤ 0.05 , ** = p ≤ 0.01 , *** = p ≤ 0.001 , **** = p ≤ 0.0001).

2.5 HIV-1 transcription activates macrophages and CD4+ T cells

To determine if innate immune detection of HIV-1 was unique to DCs, monocytederived macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells were examined. In response to transduction with HIV-1-GFP, macrophages upregulated CD86, ISG15, and HLA-DR, and CD4⁺ T cells upregulated MX1, IFIT1, and HLA-DR (Fig. 2.4a). DCs, macrophages, and CD4⁺ T cells were then transduced side-by-side with mutant constructs to determine if the mechanism of innate immune activation was similar to that in DCs. As with DCs, HIV-1-GFP bearing the $\Delta gag/pol$ deletion activated macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells (Fig. 2.4b). Also in agreement with the DC results, neither the minimal lentivector, nor HIV-1-GFP bearing mutations in *integrase, tat*, or *rev*, matured any of the three cell types (Fig. 2.4b).

CD4⁺ T cells were infected with either macrophage-tropic or T cell-tropic HIV-1 to determine whether replication-competent HIV-1 was similarly capable of innate immune activation in these cells, in the absence of VSV G. As with DCs, innate immune activation, as detected by MX1 and ISG15 upregulation, was observed in cells productively infected with HIV-1, but not with minimal lentivector (Fig. 2.4c). Finally, to test the effect of HIV-1 proviral RNA on non-activated T cells, CD4⁺ T cells were co-transduced with Tet-HIV-1 and the rtTA3 vector, and cultured for 9 days in the absence of stimulation. Upon doxycycline treatment, T cells expressed GFP and MX1 (Fig. 2.4d). As in DCs, dose-dependent activation was observed with doxycycline (Fig. 2.4d). These data indicate that innate

immune activation by HIV-1, in all three cell types, requires integration, transcription, and Rev-dependent, HIV-1 intron-containing RNA.



Figure 2.4


Figure 2.4

Figure 2.4 Innate immune activation in macrophages and CD4+ T cells by HIV-1 proviral transcription

a, Macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells were transduced with HIV-1-GFP and assayed 3 days later for the indicated activation markers. **b**, DCs, macrophages, and CD4⁺ T cells were challenged with HIV-1-GFP or the indicated mutants. When an essential viral component was disrupted within HIV-1-GFP, the factor in question was provided in trans during assembly in transfected HEK293 cells, as appropriate (see Methods). The upper panel shows flow cytometry of the DCs for GFP and CD86. The histograms show CD86 for DCs and macrophages or MX1 for CD4⁺ T cells. **c**, 12 day spreading infections on CD4+ T cells with either macrophage-tropic or T cell-tropic, replication-competent HIV-1. **d**, CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated for 3 days with PHA and IL2, and transduced with Tet-HIV-1 and rtTA3. Cells were then cultured without stimulation for 9 days. Doxycycline was then added at the indicated concentrations. Cells were assayed for GFP and MX1 3 days later. Shown are blood donor data representative of n=6 (a), n=4 (b, c, d).

To determine significance, the MFI of individual flow cytometry samples was calculated as fold-change of variable versus negative control for the indicated marker. Combined flow cytometry MFI fold change data for all donor replicates is represented by the associated dot plots. Significance was tested in all flow cytometry data by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test comparing test against minimal lentivector negative (* = p ≤ 0.05 , ** = p ≤ 0.01 , *** = p ≤ 0.001 , **** = p ≤ 0.0001).

2.6 Implications for research and antiviral therapy

The HIV-1 LTR generates a single primary transcript that gives rise to over 100 alternatively spliced RNAs (Ocwieja et al., 2012). The full-length, unspliced, intron-bearing transcript acts as viral genomic RNA in the virion and as mRNA for essential *gag*- and *pol*-encoded proteins. Expression of the unspliced transcript requires specialized viral and cellular machinery, HIV-1 Rev and CRM1(Fornerod et al., 1997), in order to escape from the spliceosome. Results here indicate that unspliced or partially spliced HIV-1 RNA is detected by human cells as a danger signal, as has been reported for inefficiently spliced mRNAs from transposable elements in distantly related eukaryotes (Dumesic et al., 2013). Transposable elements are mutagenic to the host genome and it stands to reason that molecular features such as transcripts bearing multiple, inefficient splice signals characteristic of retrotransposons, would activate innate immune signaling pathways.

HIV-1 genomic RNA contains extensive secondary and higher order structures that could be detected by innate immune sensors. Our knockdown of IRF3 and inhibition of TBK1, both required for signal transduction of the RNA sensors RIG-I, MDA5, and TLR3, did not impede HIV-1 maturation of DCs (Figure 2.2c). Furthermore, we suppressed an extensive list of innate signaling pathways and sensors including knockdowns of IRF's 1, 5, 7, and 9, STAT's 1 and 2, as well as pharmacologic inhibition of CypA, PKR, c-Raf, IkBa, NF-kB, MEK1+2, p38, JNK, Caspase 1, pan-Caspases, ASK1, eIF2a, IKKe, TAK1, or NLRP3 (Table 2.2). None of these perturbations had any effect on limiting innate immune activation by HIV-1, suggesting requirement for an alternative detection mechanism. Such mechanisms might include uncharacterized RNA sensors, direct detection of stalled splicing machinery, or overload of the CRM1 nuclear export pathway itself.

The replication competent HIV-1 reservoir in memory CD4⁺ T cells has a 44 wk half-life and thus patients must take antiviral medication for life (Crooks et al., 2015). Long-lived, replication competent HIV-1 reservoirs in other cell types have not been clearly demonstrated, but these may also contribute to the HIV-1 reservoir (Kandathil et al., 2016). The common genetic determinants in HIV-1 for maturation of CD4⁺ T cells, macrophages, and DCs suggests that HIV-1 is detected by a mechanism that is conserved across cell types, and that this mechanism would be active in any cell type that possesses a transcriptionally active provirus. Data here show that proviruses need not be replication competent to contribute to inflammation. Rather, HIV-1 transcription and export of unspliced RNA, regardless of replication competence, is sufficient to induce immune activation. Consistent with our findings, T cell activation correlates directly with the level of cell-associated HIV-1 RNA in patients receiving antiretroviral therapy (EI-Diwany et al., 2017). Furthermore, our data suggests that new drugs that block HIV-1 transcription, Tat-mediated transcriptional elongation, or Rev-mediated preservation of unspliced transcripts (Mousseau et

al., 2015), would limit inflammation, and offer an important addition to the current anti-HIV-1 drug armamentarium.

Plasmid Name	Purpose	Notes
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP	Single-cycle, full- length HIV-1	"HIV-1-GFP" in the manuscript. HIV-1 NL4-3 in pBluescript, flanking host sequences deleted, frameshift in <i>env</i> , eGFP in place of <i>nef(He et al., 1997)</i>
pUC57mini NL4-3 Δ <i>env</i> eGFP	HIV-1 clade B molecular clone	Molecular clone of NL4-3 with deletion of 79 nucleotides following the Env signal peptide and eGFP in place of <i>nef</i>
pUC57mini AD17 Δ <i>env</i> eGFP	HIV-1 clade B molecular clone	Molecular clone of transmitted/founder virus HIV-1-AD17(Parrish et al., 2013) with deletion of 79 nucleotides following the Env signal peptide and eGFP in place of <i>nef</i>
pUC57mini Z331M- TF Δ <i>env</i> eGFP	HIV-1 clade C molecular clone	Molecular clone of transmitted/founder virus HIV-1-Z331M-TF(Deymier et al., 2015) with deletion of 79 nucleotides following the Env signal peptide and eGFP in place of <i>nef</i>
pUC57mini ZM249M ∆ <i>env</i> eGFP	HIV-1 clade C molecular clone	Molecular clone of transmitted/founder virus HIV-1-ZM249M(Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009) with deletion of 79 nucleotides following the Env signal peptide and eGFP in place of <i>nef</i>
pROD9 ∆ <i>env</i> eGFP	HIV-2 _{ROD} molecular clone	Molecular clone of HIV-2-ROD. Contains frameshift in <i>env</i> and eGFP in place of Nef
pMD2.G	VSV G	Pseudotype HIV-1 vectors with VSV G
psPAX2	HIV-1 gag-pol	"3-part" lentivector or for complementation of assembly-incompetent HIV-1 vectors
SIV3+	SIV _{MAC251} gag- pol/vpx	Production of SIV VLPs containing Vpx protein
pALPS(Pertel et al., 2011)	Minimal lentivector	Includes <i>cis</i> -acting elements required for reverse transcription and integration, psi RNA packaging element, RRE, cPPT, PPT, mutation in the 3'LTR U3 that eliminates LTR- based transcription, and SFFV promoter to express genes of interest.
pALPS eGFP	eGFP lentivector	Encodes eGFP

Table 1 Plasmids used in this study

pALPS gag	gag lentivector	Encodes codon optimized NL4-3 gag
pALPS <i>env</i>	env lentivector	Encodes codon optimized JR-CSF env
pALPS tat	tat lentivector	Encodes codon optimized NL4-3 tat
pALPS <i>rev</i>	rev lentivector	Encodes codon optimized NL4-3 rev
pALPS <i>vif</i>	vif lentivector	Encodes codon optimized NL4-3 vif
pALPS vpr	vpr lentivector	Encodes codon optimized NL4-3 vpr
pALPS vpu	vpu lentivector	Encodes codon optimized NL4-3 vpu
pALPS <i>tat</i> -P2A- <i>rev</i>	tat and rev lentivector	Lentivector expressing codon optimized NL4-3 <i>tat</i> and <i>rev</i> linked by P2A peptide coding sequence (GSGATNFSLLKQAGDVEENPGP)
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP RT- D185K/D186L(De laco and Luban, 2011)	RT mutant	pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP with mutation that disrupts RT catalytic activity
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP IN- D116A(De Iaco and Luban, 2011)	IN mutant	pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP with mutation that disrupts IN catalytic activity
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP PR-D25A(De laco and Luban, 2011)	PR mutant	pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP with mutation that disrupts Protease catalytic activity
pALPS puro miR30-	Luciferase	negative control for knockdowns
L1221(Pertel et al., 2011)	knockdown	target site: CTTGTCGATGAGAGCGTTTGT
pALPS puro miR30-IRF1(Pertel et al., 2011)	IRF1 knockdown	Target site TTGCTCTTAGCATCTCGGCTG
pALPS puro miR30-IRF3(Pertel et al., 2011)	IRF3 knockdown	Target site ATCAGATCTACAATGAAGGGC
pALPS puro miR30-IRF5(Pertel et al., 2011)	IRF5 knockdown	Target site TATTTCCCTGTCTCCTTGGCC

pALPS puro miR30-IRF7(Pertel	IRF7 knockdown	Target site ATAAGGAAGCACTCGATGTCG
et al., 2011)		
pALPS puro miR30-IRF9(Pertel et al., 2011)	IRF9 knockdown	Target site AATTATCACAAAGAGGACAGG
pALPS puro miR30- STAT1(Pertel et al., 2011)	STAT1 knockdown	Target site ATATCCAGTTCCTTTAGGGCC
pALPS puro miR30- STAT2(Pertel et al., 2011)	STAT2 knockdown	Target site TTTAAGTTCCACAGACTTGGA
pALPS puro miR30-TAK1(Pertel et al., 2011)	TAK1 knockdown	Target site AGCGCCCTTCAATGGAGGAAAT
pALPS_3'LTR GFP@gag start SFFV-	U3+ lentivector GFP at <i>gag</i> start SFFV promoter	Repaired U3 allows LTR-based transcription by the provirus with GFP as a marker for expression. WPRE was deleted.
pALPS_3'LTR GFP@ <i>gag</i> start SFFV <i>tat</i>	U3+ lentivector GFP at <i>gag</i> start SFFV- <i>tat</i>	LTR drives GFP and internal SFFV promoter drives codon optimized <i>tat</i>
pALPS_3'LTR GFP@ <i>gag</i> start SFFV <i>rev</i>	U3+ lentivector GFP at <i>gag</i> start SFFV- <i>rev</i>	LTR drives GFP and internal SFFV promoter drives codon optimized <i>rev</i>
pALPS_3'LTR GFP@gag start SFFV tat-P2A-rev	U3+ lentivector with SFFV- tatP2Arev	LTR drives GFP and internal SFFV promoter drives codon optimized <i>tat</i> and <i>rev</i> .
pNL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP <i>gag^{2xFS}</i>	No Gag synthesis	1st frameshift is CG nucleotide insertion in MA at nt 832. 2nd is a CTAG addition in CA at nt 1508.
pNL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP NoStarts	No Gag synthesis	All ATGs from the start of <i>gag</i> to NC mutated to ATC except the first which was mutated to ACG
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP Δ <i>gag/pol</i>	gag-pol deletion	Deletion from the start of <i>gag</i> until 229 bases before the cPPT
pNL4-3 <i>env</i> ^{FS}	<i>vif/vpr</i> deletion	Deletion from NL4-3 nt 5582-6199

eGFP Δ <i>vif/vpr</i>		encompassing Vif and Vpr coding sequence
pNL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP Δ <i>vpu/env</i>	<i>vpu/env</i> deletion	Deletion from NL4-3 nt 6054-7489 encompassing all of <i>vpu</i> and <i>env</i> until before the RRE
pBS NL4-3 <i>env</i> ^{FS} eGFP Δ <i>nef</i> /U3	nef/U3 deletion	Deletion from NL4-3 nt 8911-9022 and 9088- 9377. This deletes <i>nef</i> and U3 LTR sequences
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP 5'CMV Δ <i>tat</i>	HIV-1 with inactivating mutations in <i>tat</i>	<i>tat</i> ATG->ACG (silent in <i>vpr</i> reading frame), nt 78 mutated T->G to change Tyr to stop codon, nt 116 mutated T->C to disrupt Met, 5'LTR replaced with CMV-R-U5 from pALPS for <i>tat</i> - independent transcription in HEK293E cells.
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP Δ <i>rev</i>	HIV-1 with inactivating mutations in <i>rev</i>	All mutations in <i>rev</i> are silent with respect to the <i>tat</i> reading frame. Start ATG->ACG and nts 68-71 were mutated AGC->TCA to change tyrosine to a stop.
pBS NL4-3 <i>env^{FS}</i> eGFP 5'CMV Δ <i>tat</i> ΔTARx2_d2TetOp(Das and Berkhout, 2016)	Tet-inducible, <i>tat</i> - independent HIV- 1	2xTet Operator inserted between NFkB and Sp1 sites in U3 of HIV-1 Δtat with 5' CMV-R- U5. 5' and 3' TAR elements were mutated to: 5'- GGTCTCTCTGGTTAGACCAGA <u>AAG</u> GAGC <u>A</u> T <u>T</u> GGAGCTCTCTGGCTAACTAGGGAACCC- 3'
pALPS rtTA3_V14(Das and Berkhout, 2016)	rtTA3 lentivector	Codon optimized rtTA3 used <i>in trans</i> with Tet inducible HIV-1
pSC101 NL4-3 env ^{FS} $\Delta rev \Delta RRE$ RTEm26CTE(Smul evitch et al., 2006)	Rev (CRM1) independent HIV- 1	HIV-1 ΔRev was cloned into pSC101 and modified to include an RTEm26CTE element in order to utilize the NXF1 RNA export pathway. The RRE was also mutated.

Drug	Action	Source	Working concentration	HIV-1 DC maturation
Doxycycline	rtTA3 activator	Sigma (D9891)	10-1000 ng/mL	-
cGAMP	STING activator	Invivogen (tlrl- nacga23)	25 µg/mL	-
PHA-P	T cell mitogen	Sigma (L1668)	5 μg/mL	-
2'deoxyguanosine monohydrate	For nucleoside assisted transductions	Sigma (D0901)	2 mM	-
2' deoxythymidine	For nucleoside assisted transductions	Sigma (T1895)	2 mM	-
2'deoxyadenosine monohydrate	For nucleoside assisted transductions	Sigma (D8668)	2 mM	-
2'deoxycytidine hydrochloride	For nucleoside assisted transductions	Sigma (D0776)	2 mM	-
Sendai Virus (SeV) Cantell strain	Challenge virus	Charles River Labs (VR-907)	200 HA units/mL	-
Nevirapine	Reverse transcriptase inhibitor	NIH AIDS reagent program (4666)	5 μΜ	Inhibits
Raltegravir	Integrase inhibitor	NIH AIDS reagent program (11680)	10 µM	Inhibits
Leptomycin	CRM1 inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl-lep)	25 nM	Inhibits
Cyclosporin A	Cyclophilin A inhibitor	Sigma (30024)	5 μΜ	No effect
GW-5075	c-Raf	Sigma (G6416)	1, 5, 25 µM	No effect
BAY11-7082	IkB-a Inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl-b82)	1, 2.5, 10 µM	No effect
U0126	MEK1 and MEK2 Inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl- u0126)	10, 25, 50 µM	No effect
SB203580	p38 MAP Kinase Inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl- sb20)	1, 2.5, 10 µM	No effect

Table 2 Drugs and maturation effects

MCC950	NLRP3-inflammasome inhibitor	Invivogen (inh- mcc)	1, 2.5, 10 µM	No effect
SP600125	JNK Inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl- sp60)	10, 25, 100 µM	No effect
Z-VAD-FMK	Pan-Caspase Inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl-vad)	1, 5, 20 μM	No effect
NQDI-1	ASK1 inhibitor	Sigma (SML0185)	1, 10, 100 µM	No effect
ISRIB	elF2a phosphorylation inhibitor	Sigma (SML0843)	1, 10, 100 µM	No effect
VX-765	Caspase 1 inhibitor	Invivogen (inh- vx765i)	1, 10, 100 µM	No effect
Dexamethasone	NF-kB and MAPK inhibitor	Invivogen (tIrl-dex)	10, 100, 1000 nM	No effect
Chloroquine	inhibitor of endosomal acidification	Invivogen (tlrl-chq)	1, 10, 100 µM	No effect
Amlexanox	TBK1/IKKε inhibitor	Invivogen (inh- amx)	1, 10, 100 ug/mL	No effect
BX795	TBK1/IKKε inhibitor	Invivogen (tlrl-bx7)	0.5, 1, 2 µM	No effect
NG25 trihydrochloride	TAK1 & LYN, MAP4K2 and Abl inhibitor	Sigma (SML1332)	50, 100, 500, 1000 nM	No effect
5Z-7-Oxozeaenol	TAK1 & MAP4K2 inhibitor	Sigma (O9890)	50, 100, 500, 1000 nM	No effect
C16	PKR inhibitor	Sigma (19785)	1 µM	No effect
2AP	PKR inhibitor	Invivogen (tIrl-apr)	5 μΜ	No effect

2.7 Materials and Methods

Data reporting. No statistical methods were used to predetermine sample size. The experiments were not randomized. The investigators were not blinded to allocation during experiments and outcome assessment.

Plasmids. The plasmids used here were either previously described or generated using standard cloning methods (Pertel et al., 2011). The full list of plasmids used here, along with their purpose and characteristics, is provided in Supplementary Table 1. All plasmid DNAs with complete nucleotide sequence files are available at <u>www.addgene.com</u>.

Cell culture. Cells were cultured at 37°C in 5% CO₂ humidified incubators and monitored for mycoplasma contamination using the Lonza Mycoplasma Detection kit by Lonza (LT07-318). HEK293 cells (ATCC) were used for viral production and were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 20 mM L-glutamine (ThermoFisher), 25 mM HEPES pH 7.2 (SigmaAldrich), 1 mM sodium pyruvate (ThermoFisher), and 1x MEM non-essential amino acids (ThermoFisher). Cytokine conditioned media was produced from HEK293 cells stably transduced with pAIP-hGMCSF-co (Addgene #74168), pAIP-hIL4-co

(Addgene #74169), or pAIP-hIL2 (Addgene #90513), as previously described(Pertel et al., 2011).

Leukopaks were obtained from anonymous, healthy, blood bank donors (New York Biologics). As per NIH guidelines

(http://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/hs/faqs_aps_definitions.htm), experiments with these cells were declared non-human subjects research by the UMMS IRB. PBMCs were isolated from leukopaks by gradient centrifugation on Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich). CD14⁺ mononuclear cells were isolated via positive selection using anti-CD14 antibody microbeads (Miltenyi). Enrichment for CD14⁺ cells was routinely >98%.

To generate DCs or macrophages, CD14⁺ cells were plated at a density of 1 to 2 x 10⁶ cells/ml in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 5% heat inactivated human AB⁺ serum (Omega Scientific, Tarzana, CA), 20 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM HEPES pH 7.2, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, and 1x MEM non-essential amino acids (RPMI-HS complete) in the presence of cytokines that promote differentiation. DCs were generated by culturing monocytes for 6 days in the presence of 1:100 cytokine-conditioned media containing human GM-CSF and human IL-4. DC preparations were consistently >99% DC-SIGN^{high}, CD11c^{high}, and CD14^{low} by flow cytometry. Macrophages were generated by culturing for 7 days with GM-CSF conditioned

media in the absence of IL-4, and were routinely >99% CD11b. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from PBMCs that had been depleted of CD14⁺ cells, as above, using anti-CD4 microbeads (Miltenyi), and were >99% CD4⁺. CD4⁺ T cells were then cultured in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FBS, 20 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM HEPES pH 7.2, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1x MEM nonessential amino acids (RPMI-FBS complete), and 1:2000 IL-2 conditioned media. Cells from particular donors were excluded from experiments if percent enrichment deviated more than 5% from the numbers mentioned above, or if there was no increase in activation markers in response to control stimuli (LPS, Sendai virus, and wild-type HIV-1-GFP).

HIV-1 vector production. HEK293E cells were seeded at 75% confluency in 6well plates and transfected with 6.25 uL Transit LT1 lipid reagent (Mirus) in 250 µL Opti-MEM (Gibco) with 2.25 µg total plasmid DNA. 2-part HIV-1 vectors based on HIV-1-GFP (He et al., 1997) and described in detail in Supplementary Table 1 were transfected at a 7:1 ratio in terms of µgs of HIV-1 plasmid DNA to pMD2.G VSV G expression plasmid DNA(Pertel et al., 2011). 3-part lentivectors were produced by transfection of the lentivector genome, psPAX2 GagPol vector, and pMD2.G, at a DNA ratio of 4:3:1. These also include 2- part HIV-1-GFP constructs that are mutated in such a way as to prevent GagPol, Tat, or Rev production. As these would be defective for viral production, psPAX2 was included in the transfections at the same 4:3:1 ratio. VPX-bearing SIV-VLPs were produced by transfection at a 7:1 plasmid ratio of SIV3+ to pMD2.G(Pertel et al., 2011). 12 hrs after transfection, media was changed to the specific media for the cells that were to be transduced. Viral supernatant was harvested 2 days later, filtered through a 0.45 µm filter, and stored at 4°C.

Virions in the transfection supernatant were quantified by a PCR-based assay for reverse transcriptase activity(Pertel et al., 2011). 5 µl transfection supernatant were lysed in 5 µL 0.25% Triton X-100, 50 mM KCl, 100 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, and 0.4 U/µl RNase inhibitor (RiboLock, ThermoFisher). Viral lysate was then diluted 1:100 in a buffer of 5 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 20 mM KCl, and 20 mM Tris–HCl pH 8.3. 10 µL was then added to a single-step, RT PCR assay with 35 nM MS2 RNA (IDT) as template, 500 nM of each primer (5'-

TCCTGCTCAACTTCCTGTCGAG-3' and 5'-

CACAGGTCAAACCTCCTAGGAATG-3'), and hot-start Taq (Promega) in a buffer of 20 mM Tris-CI pH 8.3, 5 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 20 mM KCI, 5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mg/ml BSA, 1/20,000 SYBR Green I (Invitrogen), and 200 μ M dNTPs. The RT-PCR reaction was carried out in a Biorad CFX96 cycler with the following parameters: 42°C 20 min, 95°C 2 min, and 40 cycles [95°C for 5 s, 60°C 5 s, 72°C for 15 s and acquisition at 80°C for 5 s]. 2 part vectors typically yielded 10⁷ RT units/ μ L, and 3 part vector transfections yielded 10⁶ RT units/ μ L. **Transductions.** 10⁶ DCs/mL, or 5 x 10⁵ macrophages/ml, were plated into RPMI-HS complete with Vpx⁺ SIV-VLP transfection supernatant added at a dilution of 1:6. After 2 hrs, 10⁸ RT units of viral vector was added. In some cases, drugs were added to the culture media as specified in Supplementary Table 2. In most cases, transduced DC were harvested for analysis 3 days following challenge. For gene knockdown or for expression of factors *in trans*, 2 x 10⁶ CD14⁺ monocytes/mL were transduced directly following magnetic bead isolation with 1:6 volume of SIV-VLPs and 1:6 volume of vector. When drug selection was required, 4 μg/mL puromycin was added 3 days after monocyte transduction and cells were selected for 3 days. SIV-VLPs were re-administered in all cases with HIV-1 or lentivector challenge. For DCs in Tet-HIV-1 experiments, fresh monocytes were SIV-VLP treated and co-transduced with rtTA3 and Tet-HIV-1. DCs were harvested 6 days later and treated with indicated doxycycline concentrations.

For deoxynucleoside-assisted transductions, DCs were plated at 10⁶ DCs/mL and treated with 2mM of combined deoxynucleosides for 2 hrs before transduction with HIV-1. Deoxynucleosides were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (2'deoxyguanosine monohydrate, cat# D0901; thymidine, cat# T1895; 2'deoxyadenosine monohydrate, cat# D8668; 2'deoxycytidine hydrochloride, cat# D0776). A 100 mM stock solution was prepared by dissolving each of the four nucleotides at 100 mM in RPMI 1640 by heating the medium at 80°C for 15 min.

CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated in RPMI-FBS complete with 1:2000 hIL-2 conditioned media and 5 µg/mL PHA-P. After 3 days, T cells were replated at 10⁶ cells/mL in RPMI-FBS complete with hIL-2. Cells were transduced with 10⁸ RT units of viral vector per 10⁶ cells and assayed 3 days later. T cells were cotransduced with rtTA3 and Tet-HIV-1 every day for 3 days after PHA stimulation. Cells were then replated in RPMI-FBS complete with hIL-2. Transduced T cells were cultured for 9 days with fresh media added at day 5. After 9 days, doxycycline was added at the indicated concentrations and assayed 3 days later.

Non-HIV-1 Challenge Viruses. Sendai Virus Cantell Strain was purchased from Charles River Laboratories. Infections were performed with 200 HA units/ml on DCs for 3 days before assay by flow cytometry.

Spreading Infections. DCs were plated at 10⁶ DCs/mL, in RPMI-HS complete media, with or without Vpx⁺ SIV-VLP transfection supernatant added at a dilution of 1:6. After 2 hrs, 10⁸ RT units of HEK-293 transfection supernatant of either NL4-3-GFP-JRFL or NL4-3-GFP-JRCSF was added. Each is a construct of

pNL4-3 in which *env* was replaced from the end of the signal peptide (therefore retaining the NL4-3 signal peptide and Vpu sequence) to the stop codon with either macrophage-tropic JR-FL *env* (GenBank: U63632.1) or T cell-tropic JR-CSF *env* (GenBank: M38429.1). Every 3 days (for a total of 12 days) samples were harvested for detection of viral RT activity in supernatant and flow cytometry assessment.

CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated in RPMI-FBS complete with 1:2000 hIL-2 conditioned media and 5 µg/mL PHA-P. After 3 days, T cells were replated at 10⁶ cells/mL in RPMI-FBS complete with hIL-2 and transduced with 10⁷ RT units of NL4-3-GFP with JRFL (mac tropic) or JRCSF (T tropic) env. Cells were harvested every 3 days (for a total of 12 days) and assayed for infectivity and activation via flow cytometry.

Cytokine analysis. Supernatants from DCs were collected 3 days following transduction with HIV-1-GFP or minimal lentivector. Supernatant was spun at 500 x g for 5 mins and filtered through a 0.45 µm filter. Multiplex soluble protein analysis was carried out by Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada).

qRT-PCR. Total RNA was isolated from 5 x 10⁵ DCs using RNeasy Plus Mini (Qiagen) with Turbo DNase (ThermoFisher) treatment between washes. Firststrand synthesis used Superscript III Vilo Master mix (Invitrogen) with random hexamers. qPCR was performed in 20 μ L using 1× TaqMan Gene Expression Master Mix (Applied Biosystems), 1 μ L cDNA, and 1 μ L TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (ThermoFisher) specified in Supplementary Table 3. Amplification was on a CFX96 Real Time Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad) using the following program: 95°C for 10 min [45 cycles of 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 60 s]. Housekeeping gene OAZ1 was used as control (Pertel et al., 2011).

Flow cytometry. 10⁵ cells were surface stained in FACS buffer (PBS, 2% FBS, 0.1% Sodium Azide), using the antibodies in Supplementary Table 4. Cells were then fixed in a 1:4 dilution of BD Fixation Buffer and assayed on a BD C6 Accuri. BD Biosciences Fixation and Permeabilization buffers were utilized for intracellular staining. Data was analyzed in FlowJo.

Sampling. All individual experiments were performed with biological duplicates, using cells isolated from two different blood donors. Flow cytometry plots in the figures show representative data taken from experiments performed with cells from the number of donors indicated in the figure legends.

Statistical Analysis. Experimental n values and information regarding specific statistical tests can be found in the figure legends. The mean fluorescence intensity for all live cells analyzed under a given condition was calculated as fold-change to negative control/mock. The exception to this methodology was in Figures 1g and 4c where the percent infected cells was too low to use MFI for the bulk population; in these cases MFI was determined for the subset of cells within the GFP+ gate. Significance of flow cytometry data was determined via one-way ANOVA. A Dunnett's post-test for multiple comparisons was applied, where MFI fold change was compared to either mock treatment or positive treatment depending on the experimental question. qRT-PCR and luminex data was analyzed via two-way Anova, with Dunnett's post-test comparing all samples to mock. All ANOVAs were performed using PRISM 7.02 software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).

Data availability. The plasmids described in Supplementary Table 1, along with their complete nucleotide sequences, are available at <u>www.addgene.com</u>.

CHAPTER III

Conclusion

3.1 Overview and concepts

The effect of HIV-1 infection on different cell types, especially antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells and macrophages, has been a matter of significant research and debate. DCs are tasked with maintenance of self-tolerance and the surveillance of pathogenic attack. Upon pathogen detection, DCs undergo maturation and present cognate peptides to antigen specific T cells. Competent antiviral responses require that the antigen presenting cells communicate the nature of the threat with specific coreceptor and cytokine signals. In contrast, even when viral replication is well controlled under antiretroviral treatment, T cell responses to HIV-1 infection are well characterized by decreased effector and cytotoxic activity. (Boasso and Shearer, 2008; Day et al., 2006; Khaitan and Unutmaz, 2011; Trautmann et al., 2006). Although chronic systemic inflammation has been suggested to contribute to immune exhaustion, the cause of T cell dysfunction in HIV-1 infection is largely unknown. One hypothesis proposes that the deficient immune response observed in HIV-1 infection is due, at least in part, to the deficient stimulation of HIV-1 specific T cells by DCs that do not communicate an antiviral response.

DCs have been have been shown to resist innate activation following challenge with HIV-1 mainly due to their resistance to infection. Limited CD4 expression inhibits Env mediated viral entry (Chauveau et al., 2017; Granelli-Piperno et al., 2004, 2006; Piguet and Steinman, 2007). Instead, interactions with c-type lectins like DC-SIGN direct entry into endosomal compartments that drive processing and presentation of antigen in the absence of innate stimulation and DC maturation. Notwithstanding the limits to viral entry, the host cytoplasmic nuclease SAMHD1 provides a block to reverse transcription that further prohibits productive infection of DCs and other non-dividing cells (Bloch et al., 2014; Lahouassa et al., 2012; White et al., 2013). Without recognition of the virus, DCs may communicate a tolerogenic response in HIV-1 antigen specific T cells with limited antiviral activity (Ahmed et al., 2015; Brown et al., 2010; Day et al., 2006; Khaitan and Unutmaz, 2011; Moris et al., 2006; Smed-Sörensen and Loré, 2011; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2004).

3.2 Competing mechanisms

The disagreement and multitude of competing observations and mechanisms over how antigen presenting cells and T cells can react to HIV-1 infection is both intriguing and discouraging. Dendritic cells are essential to initiate a potent and effective antiviral immune response. An understanding of whether and how DCs detect and communicate HIV-1 infection is crucial to the goal of developing a protective, prophylactic vaccine. Which makes the lack of consensus all the more thwarting. Early studies did not report innate detection of HIV-1 infection in DCs regardless of experimental facilitation via VSV-G pseudotyping or Vpx addition (Beignon et al., 2005; Fonteneau et al., 2004; Granelli-Piperno et al., 2004; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2005). However, more recent studies have shown strong evidence of sensing of HIV-1 infection both with and without artificial assistance. However, while many conflicting explanations have been offered over many years, a collectively clearer answer may be possible.

3.3 Detection of HIV-1 cDNA

The recently discovered cytoplasmic DNA sensor, cGAS, has become a prominent candidate for HIV-1 sensing. Viral cDNA, produced following reverse transcription, may be open to detection before it enters the nucleus and undergoes genomic integration. Indeed, studies have reported cGAS mediated innate activation of both DCs and macrophages. In most cases, Vpx addition through the use of SIV viral like particles was used to promote reverse transcription thereby leading to the production, and assumed accumulation, of cytoplasmic HIV-1 cDNA. In several cases, this was sufficient by itself to induce a type 1 interferon response in macrophages and DCs (Chen et al., 2016; Gao et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2013; Yoh et al., 2015). In other reports, HIV-1 has been shown to circumvent cGAS detection in DCs and macrophages regardless of Vpx addition. This restriction to detection of viral cDNA was alleviated with mutations to the viral capsid to change the affinity for CypA and CPSF6 (Lahaye et al., 2013; Rasaiyaah et al., 2013). Protected by the viral capsid, reverse

transcription takes place ostensibly protected from cytoplasmic sensors like cGAS until nuclear import and integration.

Detection of HIV-1 cDNA would logically be a process independent of viral integration. It stands to reason that nuclear import and chromosomal integration of viral cDNA would negate its capacity to be detected by cytoplasmic DNA sensors. In seeming conflict with this rationale, CD4+ T cells were reported to induce type 1 interferon following HIV-1 infection in a manner dependent on both cGAS sensing of viral cDNA and proviral integration and expression (Vermeire et al., 2016). Disruption of the cGAS signaling axis abrogated innate activation leading the authors to suggest an elaborate model of HIV-1 detection involving cGAS detection determinants both before and after integration. A mechanism for this detection is unknown and was not described in cells other than T cells (Vermeire et al., 2016).

While these observations appear incongruous, a recent report may provide a degree of corroboration. In partial agreement with the aforementioned study, Vpx assisted HIV-1 infection of DCs was shown to induce maturation involving steps both before and after viral integration (Johnson et al., 2018). Immediately following HIV-1 challenge, a low level interferon response was detected that was unaffected by inhibition of integration. This low level response was found to be mediated by the cGAS signaling pathway. However, robust DC maturation, as evident by a much stronger type 1 interferon response and upregulation of

costimulatory CD86, was only found following integration and expression. This secondary amplification of the antiviral response required both the initial cGAS "priming" response and subsequent activation of NF-κB. While it is unknown by what mechanism HIV-1 transcription is sensed or how NF-κB is recruited, the concept of a multiple sensing mechanisms with determinants both before and after integration may offer an explanation to seemingly conflicting observations.

3.4 Detection of HIV-1 RNA processing

Naked HIV-1 RNA sequences and structures have been shown to be substrates for cytoplasmic RNA receptors like RIG-I (Berg et al., 2012; Solis et al., 2011). The proposed mechanism in these studies argue for the detection of incoming HIV-1 genomic RNA prior to reverse transcription and subsequent RNAse H degradation. However, these studies mainly utilized transfections of genomic HIV-1 RNA or HIV-1 RNA motifs as opposed to genuine HIV-1 challenge. In addition to the questionable relevance of transfected RNAs, this methodology would be unable to distinguish whether *de novo* HIV-1 RNAs, as opposed to incoming virion associated genomic RNA, could be detected. In contrast, one study has described an integration dependent mechanism in which newly transcribed HIV-1 RNA is sensed by the host helicase DDX3 (Gringhuis et al., 2016). Transfection studies in DCs implicated short, abortive HIV-1 RNA DDX3 and signaling through MAVS. However, it is unknown whether abortive transcription products constitute the determinant for detection in primary viral infection.

Interestingly, DDX3 has also been shown to be a contributing factor for the Rev-CRM1 mediated export of intron containing HIV-1 RNAs (Mahboobi et al., 2015; Valiente-Echeverría et al., 2015; Yedavalli and Jeang, 2011; Yedavalli et al., 2004). In addition, DDX3 acts to promote HIV-1 translation initiation by binding directly to the TAR stem loop structure as a substitute for eIF4E mRNA 5' cap binding (Lai et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2011; Soto-Rifo et al., 2013). As such, it is apparent that DDX3 binds to *de novo* transcribed genomic HIV-1 RNA following integration to both promote its export and its translation.

In two simultaneous studies, DCs, macrophages, and CD4+ T cells were all shown to induce an antiviral response upon HIV-1 challenge (Akiyama et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017). Similarly to the preceding studies, this innate activation was dependent on integration and expression of the provirus. However, the authors found no specific viral sequence determinants nor a connection or reliance on cGAS-STING-IRF3 signaling. Innate activation was shown to be entirely dependent on Rev mediated export of unspliced and partially spliced HIV-1 RNA through the CRM1 RNA export pathway. Furthermore, transduction of the virus could be separated from RNA transcription for at least 9 days suggesting that RNA export detection is independent of any steps prior to integration as well as the process of integration itself. The authors conclude that, as long as Rev-CRM1 export of the RNA is still maintained, a provirus need not be intact or replication competent to induce innate activation (Akiyama et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017). The outstanding question is how HIV-1 unspliced RNA export itself is detected; whether it is by escape of unspliced RNA, the overt use of the CRM1 pathways itself, binding of cellular signaling determinants such as RIG-I or DDX3, or some combination thereof.

3.5 Putting the pieces together

Disagreement exists over whether cGAS is responsible for post-integration signaling or if it is limited to detection of viral DNA before integration. HIV-1 infection of CD4+ T cells has been shown to induce type 1 interferon in a mechanism dependent on cGAS signaling and on proviral production (Vermeire et al., 2016). Considering reverse transcribed HIV-1 cDNA would theoretically only be available to detection prior to nuclear import and chromosomal insertion, it is difficult to conjecture a mechanism by which cGAS detects viral DNA following integration. The authors suggest that, rather than incoming viral cDNA, cGAS might detect released mitochondrial DNA as due to stress from viral production or viral cDNA from other simultaneous infection events. However, this mechanism has not been identified nor has it been observed in other cell types. Other studies have found that HIV-1 integration and subsequent expression are necessary and sufficient to activate DCs without apparent cGAS signaling. Detection of *de novo* transcribed HIV-1 RNA in DCs is a process that inherently occurs subsequently to viral integration. An important exception is that of limited transcription from transient, unintegrated HIV-1 DNA circles (Brussel and Sonigo, 2004; Kelly et al., 2008; Sloan et al., 2010; Thierry et al., 2016; Wu and Marsh, 2003). However, this seems unlikely, as experimental inhibition of integration does not inhibit accumulation of unintegrated DNA, and hence, it's transcription (Munir et al., 2013).

In partial agreement with the aforementioned, post integration sensing of HIV-1 RNA has been shown in two accompanying studies to occur in DCs, macrophages, and CD4+ T cells (Akiyama et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017). Innate activation required both proviral integration and expression and was exclusive of the cGAS-STING-IRF3 signaling axis. It was further found that induction of type 1 interferon was contingent on Rev-CRM1 RNA export of intron containing HIV-1 RNA. In addition, this response was separable from HIV-1 transduction by at least nine days suggesting a plenary independence of preintegration sensing events (McCauley et al., 2017). While it is unresolved to what adaptor or mechanism links HIV-1 incompletely spliced RNA export to induction of type 1 interferon, it remains plausible evidence of post integration, cGAS independent sensing.

95

As alluded to prior, cellular detection of pre-integrated HIV-1 cDNA by cGAS or of post integration transcription may not be mutually exclusive mechanisms. A recent effort has proposed that both may occur either independently or as multiple steps in a connected mechanism (Johnson et al., 2018). In this study, microarray and ATAC-seq analysis on HIV-1 infection of Vpx treated DCs clearly demonstrate two stages of innate activation. The first manifests as a low level interferon response immediately following infection, unaffected by inhibition of integration. In contrast, a far more potent interferon and maturation response was observed not until two days following HIV-1 challenge. Similarly to the aforementioned studies, this robust secondary response was found to require both integration and transcription of the provirus. Knockdowns in DCs and CRISPR knockouts in THP1 derived DC-like cells suggested that the early, limited interferon response was mediated by cGAS-STING-IRF3 signaling. In addition, this secondary amplification was shown to require both the initial cGAS dependent response and the subsequent activation of NF-kB by an unknown mechanism. These observations led the authors to offer a model in which preintegration cGAS sensing of HIV-1 cDNA induces a "priming" response that is further amplified by NF-κB activation following HIV-1 transcription.

It would seem likely that this strong, successive interferon induction seen in HIV-1 infected DCs is the same response described in Akiyama et al. and McCauley et al. to sense incompletely spliced HIV-1 RNA export. Both proposed mechanisms are dependent on integration and subsequent transcription of the provirus. Each was characterized by a potent type 1 interferon response delayed significantly following transduction with peak response two days post HIV-1 challenge. Nonetheless, knockdowns and drug inhibitors of cGAS-STING-IRF3 signaling failed to abolish interferon induction and DC maturation (Akiyama et al., 2017; McCauley et al., 2017). This is in contrast to the two stage sensing hypothesis by Johnson et al., in which cGAS sensing was proposed to "prime" a pro-antiviral state that is later amplified by viral replication. Interestingly, careful analysis of my work in the preceding chapter (as well as McCauley et al.) does indicate that inhibition of integration by integrase mutation or raltegravir did not fully abolish ISG induction. Indeed, integration deficient samples yielded 100 fold higher CXCL10 RNA over background (McCauley et al., 2017). However, as inhibition of integration resulted in 1000 fold less CXCL10 RNA expression and abrogation of surface CD86 as compared to unhindered HIV-1 infection, this observation was not further investigated. Nonetheless, it is plausible that the significantly reduced ISG induction observed upon integration inhibition may reflect early, cGAS mediated innate activation.

3.6 Outstanding questions and speculations

The theory that best connects and explains the various observations presented is that of a two stage response to HIV-1 infection of dendritic cells. The initial response is that of a low level type 1 interferon induction that occurs prior to

97

integration and is dependent on HIV-1 cDNA detection by cGAS and subsequent signaling through STING and IRF3. The second response is characterized by a far larger induction of interferon and ISGs and is dependent on viral integration, transcription, and Rev-CRM1, HIV-1 RNA export. While this serves to identify the causative factor necessary for innate activation, it still leaves several unanswered questions.

It is also not known whether other dendritic cell subtypes react similarly to monocyte derived dendritic cells and macrophages. Monocyte differentiated cells are, by far, the most common experimental model for dendritic cell and macrophage biology. This is mainly due to the fact that dendritic cells are extremely heterogeneous and exist in fleeting numbers in vivo. Isolation and differentiation of CD14+ monocytes limits the variability between donors and greatly increases the total cell yield. As a result, data on the infection of proper dendritic cells both in vivo and ex vivo is limited (Ahmed et al., 2015; Granelli-Piperno et al., 2006). Interestingly, it has been found that ex vivo isolated myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells are even more resistant to HIV-1 transduction than monocyte derived cells (Bloch et al., 2014). It was found that the levels of cellular SAMHD1 were much higher in ex vivo myeloid dendritic cells and that Vpx was insufficient to alleviate the block to reverse transcription. However, the term myeloid dendritic cell encompasses multiple cell subtypes more classically referred to as common dendritic cells. Different myeloid dendritic cell subtypes have widely varying functions, interactions, and tissue

98

locations. As such, the development of effective immunotherapies will necessitate a better understanding of how individual dendritic cell subtypes react to HIV-1 challenge.

As mentioned before, the delayed but robust interferon and maturation response seen in HIV-1 infected DCs may or may not be dependent on early cGAS signaling. In more molecular terms, is the export of unspliced HIV-1 RNA via CRM1 sufficient to induce dendritic cell maturation or is a prior stimulus needed to induce a state of heightened sensitivity? In some cases, suppression of cGAS signaling appears to prevent downstream, integration dependent innate activation (Johnson et al., 2018; Vermeire et al., 2016). In other cases, cGAS sensing appears to be dispensable for a potent immune response (Akiyama et al., 2017; Gringhuis et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2017; Nasr et al., 2017). It has been suggested that, if a priming response is required, another stimulus may be able to functionally substitute for cGAS detection (Johnson et al., 2018). Furthermore, addition of a secondary stimulus following integration deficient HIV-1 infection was shown to dramatically increase the resultant activation state to a degree similar to that of unhindered infection.

Technical limitations limit experimental design: how does one isolate postintegration sensing events from pre-integration ones? This question was partly addressed through our use of a doxycycline inducible, Tat independent HIV-1 construct (McCauley et al., 2017). By transducing monocytes with Tet-HIV-1 immediately following isolation, the process of reverse transcription and integration occurs during the differentiation of the dendritic cells without immediate transcription. With this technique, viral challenge was separated from transcription initiation by 9 days in dendritic cells and CD4+ T cells with innate activation directly correlating with doxycycline concentration (McCauley et al., 2017). This would suggest that the detection of HIV-1 RNA export is sufficient to induce activation sans prior stimulation from cGAS or otherwise. It is important to note that a prior stimulation may induce permanent epigenetic and transcriptional changes separable by no length of time. However, this would seem unlikely considering that the cells are transduced as monocytes and must undergo large scale epigenetic and transcriptional changes just to differentiate.

The most significant unknown is the mechanism linking CRM1 export of unspliced HIV-1 RNA to innate signaling and interferon activation. Continued genetic experimentation on the HIV-1 genome will likely determine whether or not the sequence of the Env intron is necessary for innate detection. It is possible that the overt or improper use of the CRM1 export pathway sufficient is sufficient to induce activation without direct sequence specificity. Indeed, CRM1 RNA export is a highly specific pathway necessitating the use of secondary proteins to directly bind to RNA and bridge transport (Delaleau and Borden, 2015; Okamura et al., 2015). In HIV-1, this role is fulfilled by the Rev protein. However, CRM1 is primarily a protein transporter for complexes containing canonical nuclear export signals and commonly exports highly diverse cargos. As such, it is difficult to imagine a mechanism by which use of the CRM1 pathway itself would activate immune signaling.

A more likely scenario is one where HIV-1 RNA acts as the direct determinant for the innate sensing. In this scenario, the genomic HIV-1 RNA, inclusive of the Env intron, is the substrate for direct or indirect innate detection. It is possible that interactions occur directly with a known signaling adapter or recognition receptor; however, this reasoning would not serve to explain the necessity for CRM1 export. Another possibility is that sequence specific interactions with HIV-1 RNA co-export proteins not normally found outside the nucleus. Perhaps these are proteins that are regularly removed from RNAs during NXF1/TAP mRNA export but are retained when exported via CRM1. Once in the cytoplasm, these mislocalized proteins might be recognized as a danger signal leading to interferon activation.

The HIV-1 RNA is itself known to associate with a diverse array of proteins (Knoener et al., 2017; Kula et al., 2011; Marchand et al., 2011; Milev et al., 2012; Naji et al., 2012). Moreover, intron containing HIV-1 RNA is known to associate with many unique proteins not found with its accompanying spliced RNAs (Kula et al., 2011; Naji et al., 2012). These include RNA helicases, splicing regulators, HNRNPs, and DNA damage associated proteins among many others. Of note, Rev exported HIV-1 RNA binds multiple RNA helicases of the DEAD/H box protein family including DDX1, DDX3, DDX5, DDX7, DHX9, DDX17, DDX21, and

101
DDX24. Furthermore, DDX1 (Edgcomb et al., 2012; Fang et al., 2004), DDX3 (Yedavalli et al., 2004), DDX5 (Zhou et al., 2013), DHX9 (Bolinger et al., 2010) DDX17 (Lorgeoux et al., 2013; Sithole et al., 2018), and DDX24 (Ma et al., 2008) have all been shown to have widely varying effects on HIV-1 replication; some positive and some negative. Many of these helicases also have known functions in various innate processes such as direct detection of nucleic acids, adapters for signaling, and regulation of viral replication (Cheng et al., 2018; Fullam and Schröder, 2013; Ma et al., 2013; Rahman et al., 2017; Sekiba et al., 2018; Shan et al., 2012; Valiente-Echeverría et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2011). In fact, DDX3 has been implicated in the direct sensing of transcribed HIV-1 RNA in an integration dependent manner (Gringhuis et al., 2016). Although the authors implicate abortive, Tat independent transcription, as opposed to CMR1 exported RNA, as the determinants for activation, it still serves to illustrate the potential for DDX mediated detection. As such, it is not difficult to imagine that an RNA helicase could act as a direct recognition receptor for HIV-1 RNA. This hypothetical binding factor would then escape the nucleus by co-transporting with the unspliced HIV-1 genome via CRM1 and induce innate activation once recognized in the cytoplasm.

3.7 Experimental considerations

While the focus of this text has been on innate detection of HIV-1 in dendritic cells, the research cited and discussed was performed in a variety of cell types including whole PBMCs, CD4+ T cells, and macrophages, as well as numerous cell lines. It serves to reason that any number of observations made may not be relevant outside the cited system. It very well may be that different cell types react differently to HIV-1 infection. Indeed, plasmacytoid DCs have been shown, without experimental assistance, to readily sense HIV-1 through detection of incoming viral RNA via TLR7 (Beignon et al., 2005; Fonteneau et al., 2004; Haupt et al., 2008; Lepelley et al., 2011; Smed-Sörensen et al., 2005). However, the lack of TLR7 (and downstream IRF7) expression in myeloid, or common, dendritic cells prevents this route of innate activation (Bloch et al., 2014; Izaguirre et al., 2003; Jarrossay et al., 2001; Wacleche et al., 2018). In addition, even when observations are made in the same or similar cell types, eq. DCs and macrophages, differences in cell culturing, viral production, and assay conditions can drastically change the experimental outcome.

Difficulties determining the dependence for cGAS detection of HIV-1 infection in DCs may also stem from differences in reagent and assay conditions. In most studies, HIV-1 virus is produced via transfection of 293 cells and is harvested days later as virally enriched supernatant. In addition to virus, this media may also contain stimulating byproducts of cellular metabolism as well as leftover

transfection reagents and DNA. HIV-1 preparations themselves are amalgamations of functional viral particles mixed with other products contained within cell treated supernatants. Even purportedly purified viral particles are either precipitated out of solution with other exosomes or centrifuged on a sucrose gradient that would not exclude similarly dense vesicles.

Dendritic cells are a highly heterogeneous cell type with numerous subtypes with classifications dependent on *in vivo* localization, marker expression, and T cell presentation capacity (Kaisho, 2012; Liu, 2001; Palucka and Banchereau, 2013; Piguet and Blauvelt, 2002; Piguet and Steinman, 2007; Schreibelt et al., 2010; See et al., 2017; Villani et al., 2017; Wacleche et al., 2018). Furthermore, the majority of dendritic cell reports utilize monocyte derived dendritic cells (mdDC) as these can be produced reliably and in larger quantities than DCs isolated ex *vivo*. These are a cell type differentiated from monocytes *in vitro* by culturing in the presence of GM-CSF and IL4. Originally considered to be a culturing oddity with questionable disease relevance, mdDCs have been shown to be a true DC subset that differentiate in vivo during inflammation (León and Ardavín, 2008; León et al., 2007; Nakano et al., 2009; Wacleche et al., 2018). The specific culturing conditions can dramatically alter the phenotype of DCs and macrophages differentiated from monocytes in vitro (Qu et al., 2014; Safi et al., 2016; Wacleche et al., 2018). For example, during differentiation of macrophages from monocytes, the use of fetal bovine serum induces a transition to a G1 state as compared to a G0 state from when human serum is used.

Moreover, this G1 state induces the phosphorylation of SAMHD1 thereby reducing its capacity to restrict HIV-1 reverse transcription (Mlcochova et al., 2017; Moldenhauer et al., 2003). This greatly increases the permissivity to HIV-1 infection without the use of Vpx protein to degrade SAMHD1, which, as discussed, may or may not be a limiting factor in cGAS detection of reverse transcribed HIV-1 cDNA.

Dendritic cells are immune cells possessing a complex collection of sensors specific to a diverse array of host and pathogenic molecules. As such, they are highly sensitive to differences in experimental conditions and will alter their behavior in unknown ways. It is entirely possible that differences in culturing conditions can cause monocytes to differentiate along subtly disparate DC lineages that react opposingly to HIV-1 infection. Indeed, unpublished observations indicate that mdDCs differentiated in the presence of fetal bovine serum express a different surface marker profile than those in human serum. FBS derived mdDCs express a profile of CD1a+, CD1c++, CD11c+, CD14-, DC-SIGN+, as well as HLA-DR++, CD80+, CD83++, and CD86+ upon stimulation. Human serum derived mdDCs express a similar repertoire with minor differences including: CD1a+/-, CD1c++, CD11c+, CD14+, DC-SIGN+ and, upon stimulation, express HLA-DR+, CD80+, CD83+, and CD86++. Interestingly, recent studies of single cell RNA sequencing on ex vivo isolated monocytes and DCs report similar expression profiles in CD1c+ DC subsets (See et al., 2017; Villani et al., 2017). Villani et al describes two, closely related, but distinct, DC subsets in the

105

classical CD1c+ DC lineage. Comparison of expression profiles would suggest that FBS derived mdDCs maintain similarity to "CD1c_A" DCs whereas human serum derived DCs appear closer to "CD1c_B" DCs. Both DC subsets were shown to be potent stimulators of naive T cell expansion and to react similarly to LPS, poly(I:C), and R848 (Villani et al., 2017).

It is entirely possible that different DC subsets, regardless of similarity, may react opposingly to HIV-1 infection and could account for disparities observed in separate studies. Johnson et al. described a "priming" response potentiated by cGAS detection of pre-integrated HIV-1 cDNA that led to a chromatin state permissive to downstream, post integration DC maturation. Perhaps the necessity for prior epigenetic priming is dissimilar between different DC subtypes or other cell types like macrophages and T cells. A better understanding of the functional differences of *in vivo* DC lineages will be essential to determining exactly how HIV-1 interacts with the innate immune system on a functional level. Furthermore, advances in genetic and expression manipulation will allow for the elucidation of the dependence of particular sensors and signaling pathways to the HIV-1 response. From there, it may be possible to manipulate the response to induce a protective and permanent anti-HIV-1 immune response.

106

Bibliography

Abram, M.E., Ferris, A.L., Shao, W., Gregory Alvord, W., and Hughes, S.H. (2010). Nature, Position, and Frequency of Mutations Made in a Single Cycle of HIV-1 Replication. J. Virol. *84*, 9864–9878.

Ahmed, Z., Kawamura, T., Shimada, S., and Piguet, V. (2015). The role of human dendritic cells in HIV-1 infection. J. Invest. Dermatol. *135*, 1225–1233.

Aibara, S., Katahira, J., Valkov, E., and Stewart, M. (2015). The principal mRNA nuclear export factor NXF1:NXT1 forms a symmetric binding platform that facilitates export of retroviral CTE-RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. *43*, 1883–1893.

Aiken, C. (2006). Viral and cellular factors that regulate HIV-1 uncoating. Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS 1, 194–199.

Akiyama, H., Miller, C.M., Ettinger, C.R., Belkina, A.C., Snyder-Cappione, J., and Gummuluru, S. (2017). HIV-1 Unspliced RNA Expression Induces Innate Immune Activation in Macrophages.

Altfeld, M., Allen, T.M., Yu, X.G., Johnston, M.N., Agrawal, D., Korber, B.T., Montefiori, D.C., O'Connor, D.H., Davis, B.T., Lee, P.K., et al. (2002). HIV-1 superinfection despite broad CD8+ T-cell responses containing replication of the primary virus. Nature *420*, 434–439.

Amu, S., Lantto Graham, R., Bekele, Y., Nasi, A., Bengtsson, C., Rethi, B., Sorial, S., Meini, G., Zazzi, M., Hejdeman, B., et al. (2016). Dysfunctional phenotypes of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are comparable in patients initiating ART during early or chronic HIV-1 infection. Medicine *95*, e3738.

Andino, R., and Domingo, E. (2015). Viral quasispecies. Virology 479-480, 46-51.

Arrildt, K.T., Joseph, S.B., and Swanstrom, R. (2012). The HIV-1 env protein: a coat of many colors. Curr. HIV/AIDS Rep. *9*, 52–63.

Arts, E.J., and Hazuda, D.J. (2012). HIV-1 antiretroviral drug therapy. Cold Spring Harb.

Perspect. Med. 2, a007161.

Barton, K., Hiener, B., Winckelmann, A., Rasmussen, T.A., Shao, W., Byth, K., Lanfear, R., Solomon, A., McMahon, J., Harrington, S., et al. (2016). Broad activation of latent HIV-1 in vivo. Nat. Commun. *7*, 12731.

Beignon, A.-S., McKenna, K., Skoberne, M., Manches, O., DaSilva, I., Kavanagh, D.G., Larsson, M., Gorelick, R.J., Lifson, J.D., and Bhardwaj, N. (2005). Endocytosis of HIV-1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells via Toll-like receptor-viral RNA interactions. J. Clin. Invest. *115*, 3265–3275.

Bell, N.M., and Lever, A.M.L. (2013). HIV Gag polyprotein: processing and early viral particle assembly. Trends Microbiol. *21*, 136–144.

Bello, G., Velasco-de-Castro, C.A., Bongertz, V., Rodrigues, C.A.S., Giacoia-Gripp, C.B.W., Pilotto, J.H., Grinsztejn, B., Veloso, V.G., and Morgado, M.G. (2009). Immune activation and antibody responses in non-progressing elite controller individuals infected with HIV-1. J. Med. Virol. *81*, 1681–1690.

Berg, R.K., Melchjorsen, J., Rintahaka, J., Diget, E., Søby, S., Horan, K.A., Gorelick, R.J., Matikainen, S., Larsen, C.S., Ostergaard, L., et al. (2012). Genomic HIV RNA induces innate immune responses through RIG-I-dependent sensing of secondary-structured RNA. PLoS One *7*, e29291.

Bergamaschi, A., Ayinde, D., David, A., Le Rouzic, E., Morel, M., Collin, G., Descamps, D., Damond, F., Brun-Vezinet, F., Nisole, S., et al. (2009). The Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 2 Vpx Protein Usurps the CUL4A-DDB1DCAF1 Ubiquitin Ligase To Overcome a Postentry Block in Macrophage Infection. J. Virol. *83*, 4854–4860.

Betts, M.R., Nason, M.C., West, S.M., De Rosa, S.C., Migueles, S.A., Abraham, J., Lederman, M.M., Benito, J.M., Goepfert, P.A., Connors, M., et al. (2006). HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIV-specific CD8+ T cells. Blood *107*, 4781–4789. Bieniasz, P.D. (2006). Late budding domains and host proteins in enveloped virus release. Virology *344*, 55–63.

Bieniasz, P.D. (2009). The cell biology of HIV-1 virion genesis. Cell Host Microbe *5*, 550–558.

Bieniasz, P.D., Grdina, T.A., Bogerd, H.P., and Cullen, B.R. (1999). Recruitment of cyclin T1/P-TEFb to an HIV type 1 long terminal repeat promoter proximal RNA target is both necessary and sufficient for full activation of transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *96*, 7791–7796.

Biswas, P., Jiang, X., Pacchia, A.L., Dougherty, J.P., and Peltz, S.W. (2004). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 ribosomal frameshifting site is an invariant sequence determinant and an important target for antiviral therapy. J. Virol. *78*, 2082–2087.

Blackburn, S.D., Shin, H., Haining, W.N., Zou, T., Workman, C.J., Polley, A., Betts, M.R., Freeman, G.J., Vignali, D.A.A., and Wherry, E.J. (2009). Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. Nat. Immunol. *10*, 29–37.

Bloch, N., O'Brien, M., Norton, T.D., Polsky, S.B., Bhardwaj, N., and Landau, N.R. (2014). HIV type 1 infection of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells is restricted by high levels of SAMHD1 and cannot be counteracted by Vpx. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses *30*, 195–203.

Boasso, A., and Shearer, G.M. (2008). Chronic innate immune activation as a cause of HIV-1 immunopathogenesis. Clin. Immunol. *126*, 235–242.

Boasso, A., Herbeuval, J.-P., Hardy, A.W., Anderson, S.A., Dolan, M.J., Fuchs, D., and Shearer, G.M. (2007). HIV inhibits CD4+ T-cell proliferation by inducing indolearnine 2,3-dioxygenase in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Blood *109*, 3351–3359.

Boasso, A., Royle, C.M., Doumazos, S., Aquino, V.N., Biasin, M., Piacentini, L., Tavano, B., Fuchs, D., Mazzotta, F., Lo Caputo, S., et al. (2011). Overactivation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibits antiviral T-cell responses: a model for HIV immunopathogenesis.

Blood 118, 5152–5162.

Bolinger, C., Sharma, A., Singh, D., Yu, L., and Boris-Lawrie, K. (2010). RNA helicase A modulates translation of HIV-1 and infectivity of progeny virions. Nucleic Acids Res. *38*, 1686–1696.

Bowman, R.R., Hu, W.S., and Pathak, V.K. (1998). Relative rates of retroviral reverse transcriptase template switching during RNA- and DNA-dependent DNA synthesis. J. Virol. *7*2, 5198–5206.

Brass, A.L., Dykxhoorn, D.M., Benita, Y., Yan, N., Engelman, A., Xavier, R.J., Lieberman, J., and Elledge, S.J. (2008). Identification of host proteins required for HIV infection through a functional genomic screen. Science *319*, 921–926.

Bray, M., Prasad, S., Dubay, J.W., Hunter, E., Jeang, K.T., Rekosh, D., and Hammarskjöld, M.L. (1994). A small element from the Mason-Pfizer monkey virus genome makes human immunodeficiency virus type 1 expression and replication Revindependent. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *91*, 1256–1260.

Brenchley, J.M., Price, D.A., Schacker, T.W., Asher, T.E., Silvestri, G., Rao, S., Kazzaz, Z., Bornstein, E., Lambotte, O., Altmann, D., et al. (2006). Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. Nat. Med. *12*, 1365–1371.

Brencicova, E., and Diebold, S.S. (2013). Nucleic acids and endosomal pattern recognition: how to tell friend from foe? Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. *3*, 37.

Brown, K.E., Freeman, G.J., Wherry, E.J., and Sharpe, A.H. (2010). Role of PD-1 in regulating acute infections. Curr. Opin. Immunol. *22*, 397–401.

Bruner, K.M., Murray, A.J., Pollack, R.A., Soliman, M.G., Laskey, S.B., Capoferri, A.A., Lai, J., Strain, M.C., Lada, S.M., Hoh, R., et al. (2016). Defective proviruses rapidly accumulate during acute HIV-1 infection. Nat. Med. *22*, 1043–1049.

Brussel, A., and Sonigo, P. (2004). Evidence for gene expression by unintegrated human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA species. J. Virol. *78*, 11263–11271.

Buggert, M., Tauriainen, J., Yamamoto, T., Frederiksen, J., Ivarsson, M.A., Michaëlsson, J., Lund, O., Hejdeman, B., Jansson, M., Sönnerborg, A., et al. (2014). T-bet and Eomes are differentially linked to the exhausted phenotype of CD8+ T cells in HIV infection. PLoS Pathog. *10*, e1004251.

Cameron, P.U., Freudenthal, P.S., Barker, J.M., Gezelter, S., Inaba, K., and Steinman, R.M. (1992). Dendritic cells exposed to human immunodeficiency virus type-1 transmit a vigorous cytopathic infection to CD4+ T cells. Science *257*, 383–387.

Campbell, E.M., and Hope, T.J. (2015). HIV-1 capsid: the multifaceted key player in HIV-1 infection. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *13*, 471–483.

Cao, J., McNevin, J., Malhotra, U., and McElrath, M.J. (2003). Evolution of CD8+ T cell immunity and viral escape following acute HIV-1 infection. J. Immunol. *171*, 3837–3846.

Carlton, J.G., and Martin-Serrano, J. (2007). Parallels between cytokinesis and retroviral budding: a role for the ESCRT machinery. Science *316*, 1908–1912.

Chauveau, L., Donahue, D.A., Monel, B., Porrot, F., Bruel, T., Richard, L., Casartelli, N., and Schwartz, O. (2017). HIV Fusion in Dendritic Cells Occurs Mainly at the Surface and Is Limited by Low CD4 Levels. J. Virol. *91*.

Chemnitz, J., Turza, N., Hauber, I., Steinkasserer, A., and Hauber, J. (2010). The karyopherin CRM1 is required for dendritic cell maturation. Immunobiology *215*, 370–379.

Chen, Q., Sun, L., and Chen, Z.J. (2016). Regulation and function of the cGAS-STING pathway of cytosolic DNA sensing. Nat. Immunol. *17*, 1142–1149.

Cheng, W., Chen, G., Jia, H., He, X., and Jing, Z. (2018). DDX5 RNA Helicases: Emerging Roles in Viral Infection. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *19*.

Chin, C.R., Perreira, J.M., Savidis, G., Portmann, J.M., Aker, A.M., Feeley, E.M., Smith, M.C., and Brass, A.L. (2015). Direct Visualization of HIV-1 Replication Intermediates Shows that Capsid and CPSF6 Modulate HIV-1 Intra-nuclear Invasion and Integration. Cell Rep. *13*, 1717–1731.

Ciuffi, A., Llano, M., Poeschla, E., Hoffmann, C., Leipzig, J., Shinn, P., Ecker, J.R., and Bushman, F. (2005). A role for LEDGF/p75 in targeting HIV DNA integration. Nat. Med. *11*, 1287–1289.

Cochrane, A.W., Chen, C.H., and Rosen, C.A. (1990). Specific interaction of the human immunodeficiency virus Rev protein with a structured region in the env mRNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87, 1198–1202.

Cohn, L.B., da Silva, I.T., Valieris, R., Huang, A.S., Lorenzi, J.C.C., Cohen, Y.Z., Pai, J.A., Butler, A.L., Caskey, M., Jankovic, M., et al. (2018). Clonal CD4+ T cells in the HIV-1 latent reservoir display a distinct gene profile upon reactivation. Nat. Med.

Cooper, A., García, M., Petrovas, C., Yamamoto, T., Koup, R.A., and Nabel, G.J. (2013). HIV-1 causes CD4 cell death through DNA-dependent protein kinase during viral integration. Nature *498*, 376–379.

Craigie, R., and Bushman, F.D. (2012). HIV DNA integration. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. *2*, a006890.

Cribier, A., Descours, B., Valadão, A.L.C., Laguette, N., and Benkirane, M. (2013). Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 by Cyclin A2/CDK1 Regulates Its Restriction Activity toward HIV-1. Cell Rep. *3*, 1036–1043.

Crooks, A.M., Bateson, R., Cope, A.B., Dahl, N.P., Griggs, M.K., Kuruc, J.D., Gay, C.L., Eron, J.J., Margolis, D.M., Bosch, R.J., et al. (2015). Precise quantitation of the latent HIV-1 reservoir: implications for eradication strategies. J. Infect. Dis. *212*, 1361–1365.

Cullen, B.R. (2003). Nuclear mRNA export: insights from virology. Trends Biochem. Sci. 28, 419–424.

Das, A.T., and Berkhout, B. (2016). Conditionally replicating HIV and SIV variants. Virus Res. *216*, 66–75.

Das, A.T., Harwig, A., and Berkhout, B. (2011). The HIV-1 Tat Protein Has a Versatile Role in Activating Viral Transcription. J. Virol. *85*, 9506–9516.

Davey, R.T., Jr, Bhat, N., Yoder, C., Chun, T.W., Metcalf, J.A., Dewar, R., Natarajan, V., Lempicki, R.A., Adelsberger, J.W., Miller, K.D., et al. (1999). HIV-1 and T cell dynamics after interruption of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in patients with a history of sustained viral suppression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *96*, 15109–15114.

Day, C.L., Kaufmann, D.E., Kiepiela, P., Brown, J.A., Moodley, E.S., Reddy, S., Mackey, E.W., Miller, J.D., Leslie, A.J., DePierres, C., et al. (2006). PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. Nature *443*, 350–354.

Deeks, S.G., Tracy, R., and Douek, D.C. (2013). Systemic effects of inflammation on health during chronic HIV infection. Immunity *39*, 633–645.

De Iaco, A., and Luban, J. (2011). Inhibition of HIV-1 infection by TNPO3 depletion is determined by capsid and detectable after viral cDNA enters the nucleus. Retrovirology *8*, 98.

De Iaco, A., and Luban, J. (2014). Cyclophilin A promotes HIV-1 reverse transcription but its effect on transduction correlates best with its effect on nuclear entry of viral cDNA. Retrovirology *11*, 11.

De Iaco, A., Santoni, F., Vannier, A., Guipponi, M., Antonarakis, S., and Luban, J. (2013). TNPO3 protects HIV-1 replication from CPSF6-mediated capsid stabilization in the host cell cytoplasm. Retrovirology *10*, 20.

Delaleau, M., and Borden, K.L.B. (2015). Multiple Export Mechanisms for mRNAs. Cells *4*, 452–473.

Deng, K., Pertea, M., Rongvaux, A., Wang, L., Durand, C.M., Ghiaur, G., Lai, J., McHugh, H.L., Hao, H., Zhang, H., et al. (2015). Broad CTL response is required to clear latent HIV-1 due to dominance of escape mutations. Nature *517*, 381–385.

Deymier, M.J., Ende, Z., Fenton-May, A.E., Dilernia, D.A., Kilembe, W., Allen, S.A., Borrow, P., and Hunter, E. (2015). Heterosexual Transmission of Subtype C HIV-1 Selects Consensus-Like Variants without Increased Replicative Capacity or Interferon-α Resistance. PLoS Pathog. 11, e1005154.

Dingwall, C., Ernberg, I., Gait, M.J., Green, S.M., Heaphy, S., Karn, J., Lowe, A.D., Singh, M., Skinner, M.A., and Valerio, R. (1989). Human immunodeficiency virus 1 tat protein binds trans-activation-responsive region (TAR) RNA in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *86*, 6925–6929.

Dingwall, C., Ernberg, I., Gait, M.J., Green, S.M., Heaphy, S., Karn, J., Lowe, A.D., Singh, M., and Skinner, M.A. (1990). HIV-1 tat protein stimulates transcription by binding to a U-rich bulge in the stem of the TAR RNA structure. EMBO J. *9*, 4145–4153.

Doitsh, G., Cavrois, M., Lassen, K.G., Zepeda, O., Yang, Z., Santiago, M.L., Hebbeler, A.M., and Greene, W.C. (2010). Abortive HIV infection mediates CD4 T cell depletion and inflammation in human lymphoid tissue. Cell *143*, 789–801.

Douek, D.C., Picker, L.J., and Koup, R.A. (2003). T cell dynamics in HIV-1 infection. Annu. Rev. Immunol. *21*, 265–304.

Driscoll, M.D., Golinelli, M.-P., and Hughes, S.H. (2001). In Vitro Analysis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Minus-Strand Strong-Stop DNA Synthesis and Genomic RNA Processing. J. Virol. *75*, 672–686.

D'Souza, V., and Summers, M.F. (2005). How retroviruses select their genomes. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *3*, 643–655.

Dulude, D., Baril, M., and Brakier-Gingras, L. (2002). Characterization of the frameshift stimulatory signal controlling a programmed -1 ribosomal frameshift in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Res. *30*, 5094–5102.

Dumesic, P.A., Natarajan, P., Chen, C., Drinnenberg, I.A., Schiller, B.J., Thompson, J., Moresco, J.J., Yates, J.R., 3rd, Bartel, D.P., and Madhani, H.D. (2013). Stalled spliceosomes are a signal for RNAi-mediated genome defense. Cell *152*, 957–968.

Edgcomb, S.P., Carmel, A.B., Naji, S., Ambrus-Aikelin, G., Reyes, J.R., Saphire, A.C.S., Gerace, L., and Williamson, J.R. (2012). DDX1 is an RNA-dependent ATPase involved in HIV-1 Rev function and virus replication. J. Mol. Biol. *415*, 61–74.

El-Diwany, R., Breitwieser, F.P., Soliman, M., Skaist, A.M., Srikrishna, G., Blankson, J.N., Ray, S.C., Wheelan, S.J., Thomas, D.L., and Balagopal, A. (2017). Intracellular HIV-1 RNA and CD4+ T-cell activation in patients starting antiretrovirals. AIDS *31*, 1405–1414.

Emerman, M., Vazeux, R., and Peden, K. (1989). The rev gene product of the human immunodeficiency virus affects envelope-specific RNA localization. Cell *57*, 1155–1165.

Fang, J., Kubota, S., Yang, B., Zhou, N., Zhang, H., Godbout, R., and Pomerantz, R.J. (2004). A DEAD box protein facilitates HIV-1 replication as a cellular co-factor of Rev. Virology *330*, 471–480.

Finzi, D., Blankson, J., Siliciano, J.D., Margolick, J.B., Chadwick, K., Pierson, T., Smith, K., Lisziewicz, J., Lori, F., Flexner, C., et al. (1999). Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. Nat. Med. *5*, 512–517.

Fischer, U., Huber, J., Boelens, W.C., Mattaj, I.W., and Lührmann, R. (1995). The HIV-1 Rev activation domain is a nuclear export signal that accesses an export pathway used by specific cellular RNAs. Cell *82*, 475–483.

Fonteneau, J.-F., Larsson, M., Beignon, A.-S., McKenna, K., Dasilva, I., Amara, A., Liu, Y.-J., Lifson, J.D., Littman, D.R., and Bhardwaj, N. (2004). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells and concomitantly induces the bystander maturation of myeloid dendritic cells. J. Virol. *78*, 5223–5232.

Fornerod, M., Ohno, M., Yoshida, M., and Mattaj, I.W. (1997). CRM1 is an export receptor for leucine-rich nuclear export signals. Cell *90*, 1051–1060.

Fowke, K.R., Nagelkerke, N.J., Kimani, J., Simonsen, J.N., Anzala, A.O., Bwayo, J.J., MacDonald, K.S., Ngugi, E.N., and Plummer, F.A. (1996). Resistance to HIV-1 infection among persistently seronegative prostitutes in Nairobi, Kenya. Lancet *348*, 1347–1351.

Franke, E.K., Yuan, H.E., and Luban, J. (1994). Specific incorporation of cyclophilin A into HIV-1 virions. Nature *372*, 359–362.

Freiberg, M.S., Chang, C.-C.H., Kuller, L.H., Skanderson, M., Lowy, E., Kraemer, K.L., Butt, A.A., Bidwell Goetz, M., Leaf, D., Oursler, K.A., et al. (2013). HIV infection and the risk of acute myocardial infarction. JAMA Intern. Med. *173*, 614–622.

Fullam, A., and Schröder, M. (2013). DExD/H-box RNA helicases as mediators of antiviral innate immunity and essential host factors for viral replication. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1829*, 854–865.

Ganser, B.K., Li, S., Klishko, V.Y., Finch, J.T., and Sundquist, W.I. (1999). Assembly and analysis of conical models for the HIV-1 core. Science *283*, 80–83.

Gao, D., Wu, J., Wu, Y.-T., Du, F., Aroh, C., Yan, N., Sun, L., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. Science *341*, 903–906.

Geijtenbeek, T.B., Kwon, D.S., Torensma, R., van Vliet, S.J., van Duijnhoven, G.C., Middel, J., Cornelissen, I.L., Nottet, H.S., KewalRamani, V.N., Littman, D.R., et al. (2000). DC-SIGN, a dendritic cell-specific HIV-1-binding protein that enhances transinfection of T cells. Cell *100*, 587–597.

Goldstone, D.C., Ennis-Adeniran, V., Hedden, J.J., Groom, H.C.T., Rice, G.I., Christodoulou, E., Walker, P.A., Kelly, G., Haire, L.F., Yap, M.W., et al. (2011). HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. Nature *480*, 379–382.

Göttlinger, H.G., Dorfman, T., Sodroski, J.G., and Haseltine, W.A. (1991). Effect of mutations affecting the p6 gag protein on human immunodeficiency virus particle release. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *88*, 3195–3199.

Goujon, C., Jarrosson-Wuillème, L., Bernaud, J., Rigal, D., Darlix, J.-L., and Cimarelli, A. (2006). With a little help from a friend: increasing HIV transduction of monocyte-derived dendritic cells with virion-like particles of SIV(MAC). Gene Ther. *13*, 991–994.

Granelli-Piperno, A., Delgado, E., Finkel, V., Paxton, W., and Steinman, R.M. (1998). Immature Dendritic Cells Selectively Replicate Macrophagetropic (M-Tropic) Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1, while Mature Cells Efficiently Transmit both M- and T-Tropic Virus to T Cells. J. Virol. *72*, 2733–2737.

Granelli-Piperno, A., Zhong, L., Haslett, P., Jacobson, J., and Steinman, R.M. (2000). Dendritic Cells, Infected with Vesicular Stomatitis Virus-Pseudotyped HIV-1, Present Viral Antigens to CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells from HIV-1-Infected Individuals. The Journal of Immunology *165*, 6620–6626.

Granelli-Piperno, A., Golebiowska, A., Trumpfheller, C., Siegal, F.P., and Steinman, R.M. (2004). HIV-1-infected monocyte-derived dendritic cells do not undergo maturation but can elicit IL-10 production and T cell regulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 7669–7674.

Granelli-Piperno, A., Shimeliovich, I., Pack, M., Trumpfheller, C., and Steinman, R.M. (2006). HIV-1 Selectively Infects a Subset of Nonmaturing BDCA1-Positive Dendritic Cells in Human Blood1. J. Immunol. *176*, 991–998.

Gringhuis, S.I., van der Vlist, M., van den Berg, L.M., den Dunnen, J., Litjens, M., and Geijtenbeek, T.B.H. (2010). HIV-1 exploits innate signaling by TLR8 and DC-SIGN for productive infection of dendritic cells. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 419–426.

Gringhuis, S.I., Hertoghs, N., Kaptein, T.M., Zijlstra-Willems, E.M., Sarrami-Fooroshani, R., Sprokholt, J.K., van Teijlingen, N.H., Kootstra, N.A., Booiman, T., van Dort, K.A., et al. (2016). HIV-1 blocks the signaling adaptor MAVS to evade antiviral host defense after sensing of abortive HIV-1 RNA by the host helicase DDX3. Nat. Immunol.

Günthard, H.F., Saag, M.S., Benson, C.A., del Rio, C., Eron, J.J., Gallant, J.E., Hoy, J.F., Mugavero, M.J., Sax, P.E., Thompson, M.A., et al. (2016). Antiretroviral Drugs for Treatment and Prevention of HIV Infection in Adults: 2016 Recommendations of the International Antiviral Society-USA Panel. JAMA *316*, 191–210.

Haupt, S., Donhauser, N., Chaipan, C., Schuster, P., Puffer, B., Daniels, R.S., Greenough, T.C., Kirchhoff, F., and Schmidt, B. (2008). CD4 binding affinity determines human immunodeficiency virus type 1-induced alpha interferon production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Virol. *82*, 8900–8905. He, J., Chen, Y., Farzan, M., Choe, H., Ohagen, A., Gartner, S., Busciglio, J., Yang, X., Hofmann, W., Newman, W., et al. (1997). CCR3 and CCR5 are co-receptors for HIV-1 infection of microglia. Nature *385*, 645–649.

Herzner, A.-M., Hagmann, C.A., Goldeck, M., Wolter, S., Kübler, K., Wittmann, S., Gramberg, T., Andreeva, L., Hopfner, K.-P., Mertens, C., et al. (2015). Sequence-specific activation of the DNA sensor cGAS by Y-form DNA structures as found in primary HIV-1 cDNA. Nat. Immunol. *16*, 1025–1033.

Hiener, B., Horsburgh, B.A., Eden, J.-S., Barton, K., Schlub, T.E., Lee, E., von Stockenstrom, S., Odevall, L., Milush, J.M., Liegler, T., et al. (2017). Identification of Genetically Intact HIV-1 Proviruses in Specific CD4+ T Cells from Effectively Treated Participants. Cell Rep. *21*, 813–822.

Hoeffel, G., Ripoche, A.-C., Matheoud, D., Nascimbeni, M., Escriou, N., Lebon, P., Heshmati, F., Guillet, J.-G., Gannagé, M., Caillat-Zucman, S., et al. (2007). Antigen crosspresentation by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunity *27*, 481–492.

Hrecka, K., Hao, C., Gierszewska, M., Swanson, S.K., Kesik-Brodacka, M., Srivastava, S., Florens, L., Washburn, M.P., and Skowronski, J. (2011). Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. Nature *474*, 658–661.

Hu, W.-S., and Hughes, S.H. (2012). HIV-1 reverse transcription. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2.

Huang, S.-H., Ren, Y., Thomas, A.S., Chan, D., Mueller, S., Ward, A.R., Patel, S., Bollard, C.M., Cruz, C.R., Karandish, S., et al. (2018). Latent HIV reservoirs exhibit inherent resistance to elimination by CD8+ T cells. J. Clin. Invest. *128*, 876–889.

Hulme, A.E., Kelley, Z., Foley, D., and Hope, T.J. (2015). Complementary Assays Reveal a Low Level of CA Associated with Viral Complexes in the Nuclei of HIV-1-Infected Cells. J. Virol. *89*, 5350–5361.

Imami, N., Westrop, S.J., Grageda, N., and Herasimtschuk, A.A. (2013). Long-Term

Non-Progression and Broad HIV-1-Specific Proliferative T-Cell Responses. Front. Immunol. *4*, 58.

Iwasaki, A., and Medzhitov, R. (2010). Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Science *327*, 291–295.

Izaguirre, A., Barnes, B.J., Amrute, S., Yeow, W.-S., Megjugorac, N., Dai, J., Feng, D., Chung, E., Pitha, P.M., and Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P. (2003). Comparative analysis of IRF and IFN-alpha expression in human plasmacytoid and monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. *74*, 1125–1138.

Izquierdo-Useros, N., Lorizate, M., Puertas, M.C., Rodriguez-Plata, M.T., Zangger, N., Erikson, E., Pino, M., Erkizia, I., Glass, B., Clotet, B., et al. (2012). Siglec-1 is a novel dendritic cell receptor that mediates HIV-1 trans-infection through recognition of viral membrane gangliosides. PLoS Biol. *10*, e1001448.

Izquierdo-Useros, N., Lorizate, M., McLaren, P.J., Telenti, A., Kräusslich, H.-G., and Martinez-Picado, J. (2014). HIV-1 capture and transmission by dendritic cells: the role of viral glycolipids and the cellular receptor Siglec-1. PLoS Pathog. *10*, e1004146.

Jaehn, P.S., Zaenker, K.S., Schmitz, J., and Dzionek, A. (2008). Functional dichotomy of plasmacytoid dendritic cells: antigen-specific activation of T cells versus production of type I interferon. Eur. J. Immunol. *38*, 1822–1832.

Jakobsen, M.R., Bak, R.O., Andersen, A., Berg, R.K., Jensen, S.B., Tengchuan, J., Jin, T., Laustsen, A., Hansen, K., Ostergaard, L., et al. (2013). IFI16 senses DNA forms of the lentiviral replication cycle and controls HIV-1 replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, E4571–E4580.

Jarrossay, D., Napolitani, G., Colonna, M., Sallusto, F., and Lanzavecchia, A. (2001). Specialization and complementarity in microbial molecule recognition by human myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Eur. J. Immunol. *31*, 3388–3393.

Jensen, T.H., Dower, K., Libri, D., and Rosbash, M. (2003). Early formation of mRNP: license for export or quality control? Mol. Cell *11*, 1129–1138.

Jiang, A.-P., Jiang, J.-F., Wei, J.-F., Guo, M.-G., Qin, Y., Guo, Q.-Q., Ma, L., Liu, B.-C., Wang, X., Veazey, R.S., et al. (2015). Human Mucosal Mast Cells Capture HIV-1 and Mediate Viral trans-Infection of CD4+ T Cells. J. Virol. *90*, 2928–2937.

Johnson, J.S., Lucas, S.Y., Amon, L.M., Skelton, S., Nazitto, R., Carbonetti, S., Sather, D.N., Littman, D.R., and Aderem, A. (2018). Reshaping of the Dendritic Cell Chromatin Landscape and Interferon Pathways during HIV Infection. Cell Host Microbe *23*, 366–381.e9.

Johnson, V.A., Calvez, V., Gunthard, H.F., Paredes, R., Pillay, D., Shafer, R.W., Wensing, A.M., and Richman, D.D. (2013). Update of the drug resistance mutations in HIV-1: March 2013. Top. Antivir. Med. *21*, 6–14.

Jønsson, K.L., Laustsen, A., Krapp, C., Skipper, K.A., Thavachelvam, K., Hotter, D., Egedal, J.H., Kjolby, M., Mohammadi, P., Prabakaran, T., et al. (2017). IFI16 is required for DNA sensing in human macrophages by promoting production and function of cGAMP. Nat. Commun. *8*, 14391.

Julien, J.-P., Cupo, A., Sok, D., Stanfield, R.L., Lyumkis, D., Deller, M.C., Klasse, P.-J., Burton, D.R., Sanders, R.W., Moore, J.P., et al. (2013). Crystal structure of a soluble cleaved HIV-1 envelope trimer. Science *342*, 1477–1483.

Kaisho, T. (2012). Pathogen sensors and chemokine receptors in dendritic cell subsets. Vaccine *30*, 7652–7657.

Kandathil, A.J., Sugawara, S., and Balagopal, A. (2016). Are T cells the only HIV-1 reservoir? Retrovirology *13*, 86.

Kao, S.Y., Calman, A.F., Luciw, P.A., and Peterlin, B.M. (1987). Anti-termination of transcription within the long terminal repeat of HIV-1 by tat gene product. Nature *330*, 489–493.

Karn, J., and Stoltzfus, C.M. (2012). Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of HIV-1 gene expression. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2, a006916.

Kelly, J., Beddall, M.H., Yu, D., Iyer, S.R., Marsh, J.W., and Wu, Y. (2008). Human

macrophages support persistent transcription from unintegrated HIV-1 DNA. Virology 372, 300–312.

Khaitan, A., and Unutmaz, D. (2011). Revisiting immune exhaustion during HIV infection. Curr. HIV/AIDS Rep. *8*, 4–11.

Kijewski, S.D., and Gummuluru, S. (2015). A mechanistic overview of dendritic cellmediated HIV-1 trans infection: the story so far. Future Virol. *10*, 257–269.

Kim, B., Nguyen, L.A., Daddacha, W., and Hollenbaugh, J.A. (2012). Tight Interplay among SAMHD1 Protein Level, Cellular dNTP Levels, and HIV-1 Proviral DNA Synthesis Kinetics in Human Primary Monocyte-derived Macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 21570–21574.

Kim, S.Y., Byrn, R., Groopman, J., and Baltimore, D. (1989). Temporal aspects of DNA and RNA synthesis during human immunodeficiency virus infection: evidence for differential gene expression. J. Virol. *63*, 3708–3713.

Knoener, R.A., Becker, J.T., Scalf, M., Sherer, N.M., and Smith, L.M. (2017). Elucidating the in vivo interactome of HIV-1 RNA by hybridization capture and mass spectrometry. Sci. Rep. *7*, 16965.

Krishnan, L., and Engelman, A. (2012). Retroviral integrase proteins and HIV-1 DNA integration. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 40858–40866.

Kula, A., Guerra, J., Knezevich, A., Kleva, D., Myers, M.P., and Marcello, A. (2011). Characterization of the HIV-1 RNA associated proteome identifies Matrin 3 as a nuclear cofactor of Rev function. Retrovirology *8*, 60.

Kumar, S., Morrison, J.H., Dingli, D., and Poeschla, E. (2018). HIV-1 activation of innate immunity depends strongly on the intracellular level of TREX1 and sensing of incomplete reverse transcription products. J. Virol.

Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Ségéral, E., Yatim, A., Emiliani, S., Schwartz, O., and Benkirane, M. (2011). SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature 474, 654–657.

Lahaye, X., Satoh, T., Gentili, M., Cerboni, S., Conrad, C., Hurbain, I., El Marjou, A., Lacabaratz, C., Lelièvre, J.-D., and Manel, N. (2013). The capsids of HIV-1 and HIV-2 determine immune detection of the viral cDNA by the innate sensor cGAS in dendritic cells. Immunity *39*, 1132–1142.

Lahouassa, H., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Ayinde, D., Logue, E.C., Dragin, L., Bloch, N., Maudet, C., Bertrand, M., Gramberg, T., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. Nat. Immunol. *13*, 223–228.

Lai, M.-C., Wang, S.-W., Cheng, L., Tarn, W.-Y., Tsai, S.-J., and Sun, H.S. (2013). Human DDX3 interacts with the HIV-1 Tat protein to facilitate viral mRNA translation. PLoS One *8*, e68665.

Landau, N.R. (2014). The innate immune response to HIV-1: to sense or not to sense. DNA Cell Biol. *33*, 271–274.

Larsson, M., Shankar, E.M., Che, K.F., Saeidi, A., Ellegård, R., Barathan, M., Velu, V., and Kamarulzaman, A. (2013). Molecular signatures of T-cell inhibition in HIV-1 infection. Retrovirology *10*, 31.

Lauring, A.S., and Andino, R. (2010). Quasispecies theory and the behavior of RNA viruses. PLoS Pathog. *6*, e1001005.

León, B., and Ardavín, C. (2008). Monocyte-derived dendritic cells in innate and adaptive immunity. Immunol. Cell Biol. *86*, 320–324.

León, B., López-Bravo, M., and Ardavín, C. (2007). Monocyte-derived dendritic cells formed at the infection site control the induction of protective T helper 1 responses against Leishmania. Immunity *26*, 519–531.

Lepelley, A., Louis, S., Sourisseau, M., Law, H.K.W., Pothlichet, J., Schilte, C., Chaperot, L., Plumas, J., Randall, R.E., Si-Tahar, M., et al. (2011). Innate sensing of HIV-infected cells. PLoS Pathog. *7*, e1001284. Lesbats, P., Engelman, A.N., and Cherepanov, P. (2016). Retroviral DNA Integration. Chem. Rev. *116*, 12730–12757.

Li, S., Hill, C.P., Sundquist, W.I., and Finch, J.T. (2000). Image reconstructions of helical assemblies of the HIV-1 CA protein. Nature *407*, 409–413.

Li, Y., Kar, A.K., and Sodroski, J. (2009). Target cell type-dependent modulation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid disassembly by cyclophilin A. J. Virol. *83*, 10951–10962.

Lim, E.S., Fregoso, O.I., McCoy, C.O., Matsen, F.A., Malik, H.S., and Emerman, M. (2012). The ability of primate lentiviruses to degrade the monocyte restriction factor SAMHD1 preceded the birth of the viral accessory protein Vpx. Cell Host Microbe *11*, 194–204.

Liu, Y.-J. (2001). Dendritic Cell Subsets and Lineages, and Their Functions in Innate and Adaptive Immunity. Cell *106*, 259–262.

Liu, J., Henao-Mejia, J., Liu, H., Zhao, Y., and He, J.J. (2011). Translational regulation of HIV-1 replication by HIV-1 Rev cellular cofactors Sam68, eIF5A, hRIP, and DDX3. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. *6*, 308–321.

Lorenzi, J.C.C., Cohen, Y.Z., Cohn, L.B., Kreider, E.F., Barton, J.P., Learn, G.H., Oliveira, T., Lavine, C.L., Horwitz, J.A., Settler, A., et al. (2016). Paired quantitative and qualitative assessment of the replication-competent HIV-1 reservoir and comparison with integrated proviral DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *113*, E7908–E7916.

Lorgeoux, R.-P., Pan, Q., Le Duff, Y., and Liang, C. (2013). DDX17 promotes the production of infectious HIV-1 particles through modulating viral RNA packaging and translation frameshift. Virology *443*, 384–392.

Luban, J., Bossolt, K.L., Franke, E.K., Kalpana, G.V., and Goff, S.P. (1993). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein binds to cyclophilins A and B. Cell *73*, 1067–1078.

Lyumkis, D., Julien, J.-P., de Val, N., Cupo, A., Potter, C.S., Klasse, P.-J., Burton, D.R.,

Sanders, R.W., Moore, J.P., Carragher, B., et al. (2013). Cryo-EM structure of a fully glycosylated soluble cleaved HIV-1 envelope trimer. Science *342*, 1484–1490.

Ma, J., Rong, L., Zhou, Y., Roy, B.B., Lu, J., Abrahamyan, L., Mouland, A.J., Pan, Q., and Liang, C. (2008). The requirement of the DEAD-box protein DDX24 for the packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA. Virology *375*, 253–264.

Ma, Z., Moore, R., Xu, X., and Barber, G.N. (2013). DDX24 negatively regulates cytosolic RNA-mediated innate immune signaling. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003721.

Maelfait, J., Seiradake, E., and Rehwinkel, J. (2014). Keeping your armour intact: how HIV-1 evades detection by the innate immune system: HIV-1 capsid controls detection of reverse transcription products by the cytosolic DNA sensor cGAS. Bioessays *36*, 649–657.

Mahboobi, S.H., Javanpour, A.A., and Mofrad, M.R.K. (2015). The interaction of RNA helicase DDX3 with HIV-1 Rev-CRM1-RanGTP complex during the HIV replication cycle. PLoS One *10*, e0112969.

Malim, M.H., Hauber, J., Le, S.Y., Maizel, J.V., and Cullen, B.R. (1989). The HIV-1 rev trans-activator acts through a structured target sequence to activate nuclear export of unspliced viral mRNA. Nature *338*, 254–257.

Manches, O., Munn, D., Fallahi, A., Lifson, J., Chaperot, L., Plumas, J., and Bhardwaj, N. (2008). HIV-activated human plasmacytoid DCs induce Tregs through an indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase–dependent mechanism. J. Clin. Invest. *118*, 3431–3439.

Manches, O., Frleta, D., and Bhardwaj, N. (2014). Dendritic cells in progression and pathology of HIV infection. Trends Immunol. *35*, 114–122.

Manel, N., Hogstad, B., Wang, Y., Levy, D.E., Unutmaz, D., and Littman, D.R. (2010). A cryptic sensor for HIV-1 activates antiviral innate immunity in dendritic cells. Nature *467*, 214–217.

Marchand, V., Santerre, M., Aigueperse, C., Fouillen, L., Saliou, J.-M., Van Dorsselaer, A., Sanglier-Cianférani, S., Branlant, C., and Motorin, Y. (2011). Identification of protein

partners of the human immunodeficiency virus 1 tat/rev exon 3 leads to the discovery of a new HIV-1 splicing regulator, protein hnRNP K. RNA Biol. *8*, 325–342.

Marshall, H.M., Ronen, K., Berry, C., Llano, M., Sutherland, H., Saenz, D., Bickmore, W., Poeschla, E., and Bushman, F.D. (2007). Role of PSIP1/LEDGF/p75 in Lentiviral Infectivity and Integration Targeting. PLoS One *2*, e1340.

Martin-Gayo, E., Buzon, M.J., Ouyang, Z., Hickman, T., Cronin, J., Pimenova, D., Walker, B.D., Lichterfeld, M., and Yu, X.G. (2015). Potent Cell-Intrinsic Immune Responses in Dendritic Cells Facilitate HIV-1-Specific T Cell Immunity in HIV-1 Elite Controllers. PLoS Pathog. *11*, e1004930.

Martin-Gayo, E., Cole, M.B., Kolb, K.E., Ouyang, Z., Cronin, J., Kazer, S.W., Ordovas-Montanes, J., Lichterfeld, M., Walker, B.D., Yosef, N., et al. (2018). A Reproducibility-Based Computational Framework Identifies an Inducible, Enhanced Antiviral State in Dendritic Cells from HIV-1 Elite Controllers. Genome Biol. *19*, 10.

Mbonye, U., and Karn, J. (2017). The Molecular Basis for Human Immunodeficiency Virus Latency. Annu Rev Virol *4*, 261–285.

McCauley, S.M., Kim, K., Nowosielska, A., Dauphin, A., Diehl, W.E., and Luban, J. (2017). Intron-containing RNA from the HIV-1 provirus activates type I interferon and inflammatory cytokines.

Milev, M.P., Ravichandran, M., Khan, M.F., Schriemer, D.C., and Mouland, A.J. (2012). Characterization of staufen1 ribonucleoproteins by mass spectrometry and biochemical analyses reveal the presence of diverse host proteins associated with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Front. Microbiol. *3*, 367.

Miller, E., and Bhardwaj, N. (2013). Dendritic cell dysregulation during HIV-1 infection. Immunol. Rev. *254*, 170–189.

Mlcochova, P., Sutherland, K.A., Watters, S.A., Bertoli, C., de Bruin, R.A., Rehwinkel, J., Neil, S.J., Lenzi, G.M., Kim, B., Khwaja, A., et al. (2017). A G1-like state allows HIV-1 to bypass SAMHD1 restriction in macrophages. EMBO J. *36*, 604–616. Moldenhauer, A., Nociari, M.M., Dias, S., Lalezari, P., and Moore, M.A.S. (2003). Optimized culture conditions for the generation of dendritic cells from peripheral blood monocytes. Vox Sang. *84*, 228–236.

Monroe, K.M., Yang, Z., Johnson, J.R., Geng, X., Doitsh, G., Krogan, N.J., and Greene, W.C. (2014). IFI16 DNA sensor is required for death of lymphoid CD4 T cells abortively infected with HIV. Science *343*, 428–432.

Moore, P.L., Gray, E.S., Wibmer, C.K., Bhiman, J.N., Nonyane, M., Sheward, D.J., Hermanus, T., Bajimaya, S., Tumba, N.L., Abrahams, M.-R., et al. (2012). Evolution of an HIV glycan-dependent broadly neutralizing antibody epitope through immune escape. Nat. Med. *18*, 1688–1692.

Moris, A., Pajot, A., Blanchet, F., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Salcedo, M., and Schwartz, O. (2006). Dendritic cells and HIV-specific CD4+ T cells: HIV antigen presentation, T-cell activation, and viral transfer. Blood *108*, 1643–1651.

Morou, A., Palmer, B.E., and Kaufmann, D.E. (2014). Distinctive features of CD4+ T cell dysfunction in chronic viral infections. Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS *9*, 446–451.

Mousseau, G., Kessing, C.F., Fromentin, R., Trautmann, L., Chomont, N., and Valente, S.T. (2015). The Tat Inhibitor Didehydro-Cortistatin A Prevents HIV-1 Reactivation from Latency. MBio *6*, e00465.

Mouzakis, K.D., Lang, A.L., Vander Meulen, K.A., Easterday, P.D., and Butcher, S.E. (2013). HIV-1 frameshift efficiency is primarily determined by the stability of base pairs positioned at the mRNA entrance channel of the ribosome. Nucleic Acids Res. *41*, 1901–1913.

Munir, S., Thierry, S., Subra, F., Deprez, E., and Delelis, O. (2013). Quantitative analysis of the time-course of viral DNA forms during the HIV-1 life cycle. Retrovirology *10*, 87.

Munro, J.B., and Mothes, W. (2015). Structure and Dynamics of the Native HIV-1 Env Trimer. J. Virol. *89*, 5752–5755.

Nabel, G., and Baltimore, D. (1987). An inducible transcription factor activates

expression of human immunodeficiency virus in T cells. Nature 326, 711-713.

Naji, S., Ambrus, G., Cimermančič, P., Reyes, J.R., Johnson, J.R., Filbrandt, R., Huber, M.D., Vesely, P., Krogan, N.J., Yates, J.R., 3rd, et al. (2012). Host cell interactome of HIV-1 Rev includes RNA helicases involved in multiple facets of virus production. Mol. Cell. Proteomics *11*, M111.015313.

Nakano, H., Lin, K.L., Yanagita, M., Charbonneau, C., Cook, D.N., Kakiuchi, T., and Gunn, M.D. (2009). Blood-derived inflammatory dendritic cells in lymph nodes stimulate acute T helper type 1 immune responses. Nat. Immunol. *10*, 394–402.

Nakielny, S., and Dreyfuss, G. (1999). Transport of Proteins and RNAs in and out of the Nucleus. Cell 99, 677–690.

Nasr, N., Alshehri, A.A., Wright, T.K., Shahid, M., Heiner, B.M., Harman, A.N., Botting, R.A., Helbig, K.J., Beard, M.R., Suzuki, K., et al. (2017). Mechanism of Interferon Stimulated Gene Induction in HIV-1 Infected Macrophages. J. Virol.

Nègre, D., Mangeot, P.E., Duisit, G., Blanchard, S., Vidalain, P.O., Leissner, P., Winter, A.J., Rabourdin-Combe, C., Mehtali, M., Moullier, P., et al. (2000). Characterization of novel safe lentiviral vectors derived from simian immunodeficiency virus (SIVmac251) that efficiently transduce mature human dendritic cells. Gene Ther. *7*, 1613–1623.

O'Brien, M., Manches, O., and Bhardwaj, N. (2013). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in HIV infection. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. *762*, 71–107.

Ocwieja, K.E., Sherrill-Mix, S., Mukherjee, R., Custers-Allen, R., David, P., Brown, M., Wang, S., Link, D.R., Olson, J., Travers, K., et al. (2012). Dynamic regulation of HIV-1 mRNA populations analyzed by single-molecule enrichment and long-read sequencing. Nucleic Acids Res. *40*, 10345–10355.

Okamura, M., Inose, H., and Masuda, S. (2015). RNA Export through the NPC in Eukaryotes. Genes *6*, 124–149.

O'Neil, P.K., Sun, G., Yu, H., Ron, Y., Dougherty, J.P., and Preston, B.D. (2002). Mutational analysis of HIV-1 long terminal repeats to explore the relative contribution of reverse transcriptase and RNA polymerase II to viral mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 38053–38061.

Palucka, K., and Banchereau, J. (2013). Human dendritic cell subsets in vaccination. Curr. Opin. Immunol. *25*, 396–402.

Pan, Q., Shai, O., Lee, L.J., Frey, B.J., and Blencowe, B.J. (2008). Deep surveying of alternative splicing complexity in the human transcriptome by high-throughput sequencing. Nat. Genet. *40*, 1413–1415.

Pancera, M., Zhou, T., Druz, A., Georgiev, I.S., Soto, C., Gorman, J., Huang, J., Acharya, P., Chuang, G.-Y., Ofek, G., et al. (2014). Structure and immune recognition of trimeric pre-fusion HIV-1 Env. Nature *514*, 455–461.

Parrish, N.F., Gao, F., Li, H., Giorgi, E.E., Barbian, H.J., Parrish, E.H., Zajic, L., Iyer, S.S., Decker, J.M., Kumar, A., et al. (2013). Phenotypic properties of transmitted founder HIV-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 6626–6633.

Peng, K., Muranyi, W., Glass, B., Laketa, V., Yant, S.R., Tsai, L., Cihlar, T., Müller, B., and Kräusslich, H.-G. (2014). Quantitative microscopy of functional HIV post-entry complexes reveals association of replication with the viral capsid. Elife *3*, e04114.

Pertel, T., Hausmann, S., Morger, D., Züger, S., Guerra, J., Lascano, J., Reinhard, C., Santoni, F.A., Uchil, P.D., Chatel, L., et al. (2011). TRIM5 is an innate immune sensor for the retrovirus capsid lattice. Nature *472*, 361–365.

Piguet, V., and Blauvelt, A. (2002). Essential roles for dendritic cells in the pathogenesis and potential treatment of HIV disease. J. Invest. Dermatol. *119*, 365–369.

Piguet, V., and Steinman, R.M. (2007). The interaction of HIV with dendritic cells: outcomes and pathways. Trends Immunol. *28*, 503–510.

Pilkington, G.R., Purzycka, K.J., Bear, J., Le Grice, S.F.J., and Felber, B.K. (2014). Gammaretrovirus mRNA expression is mediated by a novel, bipartite post-transcriptional regulatory element. Nucleic Acids Res. *42*, 11092–11106. Pocock, G.M., Becker, J.T., Swanson, C.M., Ahlquist, P., and Sherer, N.M. (2016). HIV-1 and M-PMV RNA Nuclear Export Elements Program Viral Genomes for Distinct Cytoplasmic Trafficking Behaviors. PLoS Pathog. *12*, e1005565.

Pollack, R.A., Jones, R.B., Pertea, M., Bruner, K.M., Martin, A.R., Thomas, A.S., Capoferri, A.A., Beg, S.A., Huang, S.-H., Karandish, S., et al. (2017). Defective HIV-1 Proviruses Are Expressed and Can Be Recognized by Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes, which Shape the Proviral Landscape. Cell Host Microbe *21*, 494–506.e4.

Porichis, F., and Kaufmann, D.E. (2011). HIV-specific CD4 T cells and immune control of viral replication. Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS *6*, 174–180.

Powell, R.D., Holland, P.J., Hollis, T., and Perrino, F.W. (2011). Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome gene and HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a dGTP-regulated deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase. J. Biol. Chem. *286*, 43596–43600.

Powell, R.L.R., Totrov, M., Itri, V., Liu, X., Fox, A., and Zolla-Pazner, S. (2017). Plasticity and Epitope Exposure of the HIV-1 Envelope Trimer. J. Virol. *91*.

Price, A.J., Fletcher, A.J., Schaller, T., Elliott, T., Lee, K., KewalRamani, V.N., Chin, J.W., Towers, G.J., and James, L.C. (2012). CPSF6 Defines a Conserved Capsid Interface that Modulates HIV-1 Replication. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002896.

Purcell, D.F., and Martin, M.A. (1993). Alternative splicing of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mRNA modulates viral protein expression, replication, and infectivity. J. Virol. *67*, 6365–6378.

Puryear, W.B., Akiyama, H., Geer, S.D., Ramirez, N.P., Yu, X., Reinhard, B.M., and Gummuluru, S. (2013). Interferon-inducible mechanism of dendritic cell-mediated HIV-1 dissemination is dependent on Siglec-1/CD169. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003291.

Qu, C., Brinck-Jensen, N.-S., Zang, M., and Chen, K. (2014). Monocyte-derived dendritic cells: targets as potent antigen-presenting cells for the design of vaccines against infectious diseases. Int. J. Infect. Dis. *19*, 1–5.

Rahman, M.M., Bagdassarian, E., Ali, M.A.M., and McFadden, G. (2017). Identification

of host DEAD-box RNA helicases that regulate cellular tropism of oncolytic Myxoma virus in human cancer cells. Sci. Rep. *7*, 15710.

Rasaiyaah, J., Tan, C.P., Fletcher, A.J., Price, A.J., Blondeau, C., Hilditch, L., Jacques, D.A., Selwood, D.L., James, L.C., Noursadeghi, M., et al. (2013). HIV-1 evades innate immune recognition through specific cofactor recruitment. Nature *503*, 402–405.

Reikine, S., Nguyen, J.B., and Modis, Y. (2014). Pattern Recognition and Signaling Mechanisms of RIG-I and MDA5. Front. Immunol. *5*, 342.

Reinhard, C., Bottinelli, D., Kim, B., and Luban, J. (2014). Vpx rescue of HIV-1 from the antiviral state in mature dendritic cells is independent of the intracellular deoxynucleotide concentration. Retrovirology *11*, 12.

Rekosh, D., and Hammarskjold, M.-L. (2018). Intron retention in viruses and cellular genes: Detention, border controls and passports. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA *9*, e1470.

Richman, D.D., Wrin, T., Little, S.J., and Petropoulos, C.J. (2003). Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 4144–4149.

Richter, S., Ping, Y.-H., and Rana, T.M. (2002). TAR RNA loop: a scaffold for the assembly of a regulatory switch in HIV replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 7928–7933.

Rittner, K., Churcher, M.J., Gait, M.J., and Karn, J. (1995). The human immunodeficiency virus long terminal repeat includes a specialised initiator element which is required for Tat-responsive transcription. J. Mol. Biol. *248*, 562–580.

Rojas-Araya, B., Ohlmann, T., and Soto-Rifo, R. (2015). Translational Control of the HIV Unspliced Genomic RNA. Viruses *7*, 4326–4351.

Rosenberg, E.S., Billingsley, J.M., Caliendo, A.M., Boswell, S.L., Sax, P.E., Kalams, S.A., and Walker, B.D. (1997). Vigorous HIV-1-Specific CD4+ T Cell Responses Associated with Control of Viremia. Science *278*, 1447–1450. Saag, M., and Deeks, S.G. (2010). How Do HIV Elite Controllers Do What They Do? Clin. Infect. Dis. *51*, 239–241.

Safi, W., Kuehnl, A., Nüssler, A., Eckstein, H.-H., and Pelisek, J. (2016). Differentiation of human CD14+ monocytes: an experimental investigation of the optimal culture medium and evidence of a lack of differentiation along the endothelial line. Exp. Mol. Med. *48*, e227.

Salazar-Gonzalez, J.F., Salazar, M.G., Keele, B.F., Learn, G.H., Giorgi, E.E., Li, H., Decker, J.M., Wang, S., Baalwa, J., Kraus, M.H., et al. (2009). Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. J. Exp. Med. *206*, 1273–1289.

Scheid, J.F., Mouquet, H., Feldhahn, N., Seaman, M.S., Velinzon, K., Pietzsch, J., Ott, R.G., Anthony, R.M., Zebroski, H., Hurley, A., et al. (2009). Broad diversity of neutralizing antibodies isolated from memory B cells in HIV-infected individuals. Nature *458*, 636–640.

Schreibelt, G., Tel, J., Sliepen, K.H.E.W.J., Benitez-Ribas, D., Figdor, C.G., Adema, G.J., and de Vries, I.J.M. (2010). Toll-like receptor expression and function in human dendritic cell subsets: implications for dendritic cell-based anti-cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol. Immunother. *59*, 1573–1582.

Schwartz, S., Felber, B.K., Benko, D.M., Fenyö, E.M., and Pavlakis, G.N. (1990). Cloning and functional analysis of multiply spliced mRNA species of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. *64*, 2519–2529.

von Schwedler, U.K., Stuchell, M., Müller, B., Ward, D.M., Chung, H.-Y., Morita, E., Wang, H.E., Davis, T., He, G.-P., Cimbora, D.M., et al. (2003). The protein network of HIV budding. Cell *114*, 701–713.

See, P., Dutertre, C.-A., Chen, J., Günther, P., McGovern, N., Irac, S.E., Gunawan, M., Beyer, M., Händler, K., Duan, K., et al. (2017). Mapping the human DC lineage through the integration of high-dimensional techniques. Science. Sekiba, K., Otsuka, M., Ohno, M., Kishikawa, T., Yamagami, M., Suzuki, T., Ishibashi, R., Seimiya, T., Tanaka, E., and Koike, K. (2018). DHX9 regulates production of hepatitis B virus-derived circular RNA and viral protein levels. Oncotarget *9*, 20953–20964.

Shan, L., Deng, K., Shroff, N.S., Durand, C.M., Alireza. Rabi, S., Yang, H.-C., Zhang, H., Margolick, J.B., Blankson, J.N., and Siliciano, R.F. (2012). Stimulation of HIV-1-Specific Cytolytic T Lymphocytes Facilitates Elimination of Latent Viral Reservoir after Virus Reactivation. Immunity *36*, 491–501.

Sharova, N., Wu, Y., Zhu, X., Stranska, R., Kaushik, R., Sharkey, M., and Stevenson, M. (2008). Primate Lentiviral Vpx Commandeers DDB1 to Counteract a Macrophage Restriction. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000057.

Shun, M.-C., Raghavendra, N.K., Vandegraaff, N., Daigle, J.E., Hughes, S., Kellam, P., Cherepanov, P., and Engelman, A. (2007). LEDGF/p75 functions downstream from preintegration complex formation to effect gene-specific HIV-1 integration. Genes Dev. *21*, 1767–1778.

Siliciano, J.D., and Siliciano, R.F. (2013). Recent trends in HIV-1 drug resistance. Curr. Opin. Virol. *3*, 487–494.

Siliciano, J.D., Kajdas, J., Finzi, D., Quinn, T.C., Chadwick, K., Margolick, J.B., Kovacs, C., Gange, S.J., and Siliciano, R.F. (2003). Long-term follow-up studies confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. Nat. Med. *9*, 727–728.

Silvin, A., and Manel, N. (2015). Innate immune sensing of HIV infection. Curr. Opin. Immunol. *32*, 54–60.

Sinha, A., Ma, Y., Scherzer, R., Hur, S., Li, D., Ganz, P., Deeks, S.G., and Hsue, P.Y. (2016). Role of T- Cell Dysfunction, Inflammation, and Coagulation in Microvascular Disease in HIV. J. Am. Heart Assoc. *5*, e004243.

Sithole, N., Williams, C.A., Vaughan, A.M., Kenyon, J.C., and Lever, A.M.L. (2018). DDX17 Specifically, and Independently of DDX5, Controls Use of the HIV A4/5 Splice Acceptor Cluster and Is Essential for Efficient Replication of HIV. J. Mol. Biol.

Sloan, R.D., Donahue, D.A., Kuhl, B.D., Bar-Magen, T., and Wainberg, M.A. (2010). Expression of Nef from unintegrated HIV-1 DNA downregulates cell surface CXCR4 and CCR5 on T-lymphocytes. Retrovirology *7*, 44.

Smed-Sörensen, A., and Loré, K. (2011). Dendritic cells at the interface of innate and adaptive immunity to HIV-1. Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS *6*, 405–410.

Smed-Sörensen, A., Loré, K., Walther-Jallow, L., Andersson, J., and Spetz, A.-L. (2004). HIV-1-infected dendritic cells up-regulate cell surface markers but fail to produce IL-12 p70 in response to CD40 ligand stimulation. Blood *104*, 2810–2817.

Smed-Sörensen, A., Loré, K., Vasudevan, J., Louder, M.K., Andersson, J., Mascola, J.R., Spetz, A.-L., and Koup, R.A. (2005). Differential Susceptibility to Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection of Myeloid and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. J. Virol. *79*, 8861–8869.

Smith, K.N., Mailliard, R.B., Piazza, P.A., Fischer, W., Korber, B.T., Fecek, R.J., Ratner, D., Gupta, P., Mullins, J.I., and Rinaldo, C.R. (2016). Effective Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Targeting of Persistent HIV-1 during Antiretroviral Therapy Requires Priming of Naive CD8+ T Cells. MBio *7*.

Smulevitch, S., Bear, J., Alicea, C., Rosati, M., Jalah, R., Zolotukhin, A.S., von Gegerfelt, A., Michalowski, D., Moroni, C., Pavlakis, G.N., et al. (2006). RTE and CTE mRNA export elements synergistically increase expression of unstable, Rev-dependent HIV and SIV mRNAs. Retrovirology *3*, 1–9.

Sokolskaja, E., Berthoux, L., and Luban, J. (2006). Cyclophilin A and TRIM5α Independently Regulate Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infectivity in Human Cells. J. Virol. *80*, 2855–2862.

Solis, M., Nakhaei, P., Jalalirad, M., Lacoste, J., Douville, R., Arguello, M., Zhao, T., Laughrea, M., Wainberg, M.A., and Hiscott, J. (2011). RIG-I-mediated antiviral signaling is inhibited in HIV-1 infection by a protease-mediated sequestration of RIG-I. J. Virol. *85*,

1224-1236.

Sommer, P., and Nehrbass, U. (2005). Quality control of messenger ribonucleoprotein particles in the nucleus and at the pore. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. *17*, 294–301.

Soto-Rifo, R., Rubilar, P.S., and Ohlmann, T. (2013). The DEAD-box helicase DDX3 substitutes for the cap-binding protein eIF4E to promote compartmentalized translation initiation of the HIV-1 genomic RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. *41*, 6286–6299.

Sousa, C.R. e. (2006). Dendritic cells in a mature age. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 476–483.

Spina, C.A., Anderson, J., Archin, N.M., Bosque, A., Chan, J., Famiglietti, M., Greene, W.C., Kashuba, A., Lewin, S.R., Margolis, D.M., et al. (2013). An in-depth comparison of latent HIV-1 reactivation in multiple cell model systems and resting CD4+ T cells from aviremic patients. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003834.

Srivastava, S., Swanson, S.K., Manel, N., Florens, L., Washburn, M.P., and Skowronski, J. (2008). Lentiviral Vpx accessory factor targets VprBP/DCAF1 substrate adaptor for cullin 4 E3 ubiquitin ligase to enable macrophage infection. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000059.

Staple, D.W., and Butcher, S.E. (2005). Solution structure and thermodynamic investigation of the HIV-1 frameshift inducing element. J. Mol. Biol. *349*, 1011–1023.

Stoltzfus, C.M. (2009). Chapter 1. Regulation of HIV-1 alternative RNA splicing and its role in virus replication. Adv. Virus Res. *74*, 1–40.

Stoltzfus, C.M., and Madsen, J.M. (2006). Role of viral splicing elements and cellular RNA binding proteins in regulation of HIV-1 alternative RNA splicing. Curr. HIV Res. *4*, 43–55.

Stutz, F., and Izaurralde, E. (2003). The interplay of nuclear mRNP assembly, mRNA surveillance and export. Trends Cell Biol. *13*, 319–327.

Sumner, R.P., Thorne, L.G., Fink, D.L., Khan, H., Milne, R.S., and Towers, G.J. (2017). Are Evolution and the Intracellular Innate Immune System Key Determinants in HIV Transmission? Front. Immunol. *8*, 1246. Sundquist, W.I., and Kräusslich, H.-G. (2012). HIV-1 assembly, budding, and maturation. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. *2*, a006924.

Tahirov, T.H., Babayeva, N.D., Varzavand, K., Cooper, J.J., Sedore, S.C., and Price, D.H. (2010). Crystal structure of HIV-1 Tat complexed with human P-TEFb. Nature *465*, 747–751.

Taiwo, B., Barcena, L., and Tressler, R. (2013). Understanding and controlling chronic immune activation in the HIV-infected patients suppressed on combination antiretroviral therapy. Curr. HIV/AIDS Rep. *10*, 21–32.

Thali, M., Bukovsky, A., Kondo, E., Rosenwirth, B., Walsh, C.T., Sodroski, J., and Göttlinger, H.G. (1994). Functional association of cyclophilin A with HIV-1 virions. Nature *372*, 363–365.

Thierry, S., Thierry, E., Subra, F., Deprez, E., Leh, H., Bury-Moné, S., and Delelis, O. (2016). Opposite transcriptional regulation of integrated vs unintegrated HIV genomes by the NF-κB pathway. Sci. Rep. *6*, 25678.

Thompson, M.R., Kaminski, J.J., Kurt-Jones, E.A., and Fitzgerald, K.A. (2011). Pattern recognition receptors and the innate immune response to viral infection. Viruses *3*, 920–940.

Trautmann, L., Janbazian, L., Chomont, N., Said, E.A., Gimmig, S., Bessette, B., Boulassel, M.-R., Delwart, E., Sepulveda, H., Balderas, R.S., et al. (2006). Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIV-specific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction. Nat. Med. *12*, 1198–1202.

Turville, S.G., Cameron, P.U., Handley, A., Lin, G., Pöhlmann, S., Doms, R.W., and Cunningham, A.L. (2002). Diversity of receptors binding HIV on dendritic cell subsets. Nat. Immunol. *3*, 975–983.

Usami, Y., Popov, S., Popova, E., Inoue, M., Weissenhorn, W., and G Göttlinger, H. (2009). The ESCRT pathway and HIV-1 budding. Biochem. Soc. Trans. *37*, 181–184.

Valentin, A., Aldrovandi, G., Zolotukhin, A.S., Cole, S.W., Zack, J.A., Pavlakis, G.N., and

Felber, B.K. (1997). Reduced viral load and lack of CD4 depletion in SCID-hu mice infected with Rev-independent clones of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. *71*, 9817–9822.

Valiente-Echeverría, F., Hermoso, M.A., and Soto-Rifo, R. (2015). RNA helicase DDX3: at the crossroad of viral replication and antiviral immunity. Rev. Med. Virol. *25*, 286–299.

Valle-Casuso, J.C., Di Nunzio, F., Yang, Y., Reszka, N., Lienlaf, M., Arhel, N., Perez, P., Brass, A.L., and Diaz-Griffero, F. (2012). TNPO3 Is Required for HIV-1 Replication after Nuclear Import but prior to Integration and Binds the HIV-1 Core. J. Virol. *86*, 5931–5936.

Vermeire, J., Roesch, F., Sauter, D., Rua, R., Hotter, D., Van Nuffel, A., Vanderstraeten, H., Naessens, E., Iannucci, V., Landi, A., et al. (2016). HIV Triggers a cGAS-Dependent, Vpu- and Vpr-Regulated Type I Interferon Response in CD4+ T Cells. Cell Rep. *17*, 413–424.

Villani, A.-C., Satija, R., Reynolds, G., Sarkizova, S., Shekhar, K., Fletcher, J., Griesbeck, M., Butler, A., Zheng, S., Lazo, S., et al. (2017). Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. Science *356*, eaah4573.

Virgin, H.W., and Walker, B.D. (2010). Immunology and the elusive AIDS vaccine. Nature *464*, 224.

Votteler, J., and Sundquist, W.I. (2013). Virus budding and the ESCRT pathway. Cell Host Microbe *14*, 232–241.

Wacleche, V.S., Tremblay, C.L., Routy, J.-P., and Ancuta, P. (2018). The Biology of Monocytes and Dendritic Cells: Contribution to HIV Pathogenesis. Viruses *10*.

Wain-Hobson, S., Sonigo, P., Danos, O., Cole, S., and Alizon, M. (1985). Nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, LAV. Cell *40*, 9–17.

Walker, B.D. (2007). Elite control of HIV Infection: implications for vaccines and treatment. Top. HIV Med. *15*, 134–136.

Wang, D., Hicks, C.B., Goswami, N.D., Tafoya, E., Ribeiro, R.M., Cai, F., Perelson, A.S., and Gao, F. (2011). Evolution of drug-resistant viral populations during interruption of antiretroviral therapy. J. Virol. *85*, 6403–6415.

Watts, J.M., Dang, K.K., Gorelick, R.J., Leonard, C.W., Bess, J.W., Jr, Swanstrom, R., Burch, C.L., and Weeks, K.M. (2009). Architecture and secondary structure of an entire HIV-1 RNA genome. Nature *460*, 711–716.

Wei, P., Garber, M.E., Fang, S.M., Fischer, W.H., and Jones, K.A. (1998). A novel CDK9-associated C-type cyclin interacts directly with HIV-1 Tat and mediates its high-affinity, loop-specific binding to TAR RNA. Cell *9*2, 451–462.

Wei, X., Decker, J.M., Wang, S., Hui, H., Kappes, J.C., Wu, X., Salazar-Gonzalez, J.F., Salazar, M.G., Kilby, J.M., Saag, M.S., et al. (2003). Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. Nature *422*, 307–312.

Weiss, E.R., and Göttlinger, H. (2011). The role of cellular factors in promoting HIV budding. J. Mol. Biol. *410*, 525–533.

Wheeler, L.A., Trifonova, R.T., Vrbanac, V., Barteneva, N.S., Liu, X., Bollman, B., Onofrey, L., Mulik, S., Ranjbar, S., Luster, A.D., et al. (2016). TREX1 Knockdown Induces an Interferon Response to HIV that Delays Viral Infection in Humanized Mice. Cell Rep. *15*, 1715–1727.

Wherry, E.J., and Kurachi, M. (2015). Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *15*, 486–499.

White, T.E., Brandariz-Nuñez, A., Valle-Casuso, J.C., Amie, S., Nguyen, L.A., Kim, B., Tuzova, M., and Diaz-Griffero, F. (2013). The Retroviral Restriction Ability of SAMHD1, but Not Its Deoxynucleotide Triphosphohydrolase Activity, Is Regulated by Phosphorylation. Cell Host Microbe *13*, 441–451.

Wiegand, A., Spindler, J., Hong, F.F., Shao, W., Cyktor, J.C., Cillo, A.R., Halvas, E.K., Coffin, J.M., Mellors, J.W., and Kearney, M.F. (2017). Single-cell analysis of HIV-1 transcriptional activity reveals expression of proviruses in expanded clones during ART.
Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114, E3659-E3668.

Wu, Y., and Marsh, J.W. (2003). Early Transcription from Nonintegrated DNA in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. J. Virol. 77, 10376–10382.

Wu, J., Sun, L., Chen, X., Du, F., Shi, H., Chen, C., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP is an endogenous second messenger in innate immune signaling by cytosolic DNA. Science *339*, 826–830.

Xu, L., Khadijah, S., Fang, S., Wang, L., Tay, F.P.L., and Liu, D.X. (2010). The Cellular RNA Helicase DDX1 Interacts with Coronavirus Nonstructural Protein 14 and Enhances Viral Replication. J. Virol. *84*, 8571–8583.

Yamamoto, T., Price, D.A., Casazza, J.P., Ferrari, G., Nason, M., Chattopadhyay, P.K., Roederer, M., Gostick, E., Katsikis, P.D., Douek, D.C., et al. (2011). Surface expression patterns of negative regulatory molecules identify determinants of virus-specific CD8+ Tcell exhaustion in HIV infection. Blood *117*, 4805–4815.

Yan, N., Regalado-Magdos, A.D., Stiggelbout, B., Lee-Kirsch, M.A., and Lieberman, J. (2010). The cytosolic exonuclease TREX1 inhibits the innate immune response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 1005–1013.

Yedavalli, V.S.R.K., and Jeang, K.-T. (2011). Matrin 3 is a co-factor for HIV-1 Rev in regulating post-transcriptional viral gene expression. Retrovirology *8*, 61.

Yedavalli, V.S.R.K., Neuveut, C., Chi, Y.-H., Kleiman, L., and Jeang, K.-T. (2004). Requirement of DDX3 DEAD box RNA helicase for HIV-1 Rev-RRE export function. Cell *119*, 381–392.

Yoh, S.M., Schneider, M., Seifried, J., Soonthornvacharin, S., Akleh, R.E., Olivieri, K.C., De Jesus, P.D., Ruan, C., de Castro, E., Ruiz, P.A., et al. (2015). PQBP1 Is a Proximal Sensor of the cGAS-Dependent Innate Response to HIV-1. Cell *161*, 1293–1305.

Zajac, A.J., Blattman, J.N., Murali-Krishna, K., Sourdive, D.J., Suresh, M., Altman, J.D., and Ahmed, R. (1998). Viral immune evasion due to persistence of activated T cells without effector function. J. Exp. Med. *188*, 2205–2213.

Zhang, Z., Kim, T., Bao, M., Facchinetti, V., Jung, S.Y., Ghaffari, A.A., Qin, J., Cheng, G., and Liu, Y.-J. (2011). DDX1, DDX21, and DHX36 helicases form a complex with the adaptor molecule TRIF to sense dsRNA in dendritic cells. Immunity *34*, 866–878.

Zhao, G., Perilla, J.R., Yufenyuy, E.L., Meng, X., Chen, B., Ning, J., Ahn, J., Gronenborn, A.M., Schulten, K., Aiken, C., et al. (2013). Mature HIV-1 capsid structure by cryo-electron microscopy and all-atom molecular dynamics. Nature *497*, 643.

Zhou, X., Luo, J., Mills, L., Wu, S., Pan, T., Geng, G., Zhang, J., Luo, H., Liu, C., and Zhang, H. (2013). DDX5 facilitates HIV-1 replication as a cellular co-factor of Rev. PLoS One *8*, e65040.

Zufferey, R., Dull, T., Mandel, R.J., Bukovsky, A., Quiroz, D., Naldini, L., and Trono, D. (1998). Self-inactivating lentivirus vector for safe and efficient in vivo gene delivery. J. Virol. *7*2, 9873–9880.